
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dawn Weisz 
Executive Officer 
 
Damon Connolly 
Chair 
City of San Rafael 
 
Kathrin Sears 
Vice Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Larry Bragman 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Garry Lion 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Tom Butt 
City of Richmond 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 

 
1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 
781 Lincoln Ave., #320  
San Rafael, CA 94901  

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  

Executive Committee Meeting 
Wednesday, August 20, 2014 

9:00 A.M. 
 

San Rafael Corporate Center, Boro Room 
750 Lindaro Street, San Rafael, CA 94901 

 
Agenda  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected in the Marin County Sheriff’s lobby, located at 3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903. The meeting facilities are in 
accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you 
may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE 
program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at 
djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

1. Board Announcements (Discussion) 
 

 
2. Public Open Time (Discussion) 

 
 

3. Report from Executive Officer (Discussion) 
 
 
4. Approval of 7.16.14 Meeting Minutes (Discussion/Action) 
 
 
5. Monthly Budget Reporting Format Update (Discussion/Action) 

 
 

6. Lease Agreement options for MCE Office Space (Discussion/Action) 
 
 

7. Deep Green Champions Certificate (Discussion) 
 
 
8. Review 9.4.14 Draft Board Meeting Agenda (Discussion) 

 
 

9. Review 9.18.14 Draft Board Retreat Agenda (Discussion) 
 

 
10. Members & Staff Matters (Discussion) 
 

MCE 



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dawn Weisz 
Executive Officer 
 
Damon Connolly 
Chair 
City of San Rafael 
 
Kathrin Sears 
Vice Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Larry Bragman 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Garry Lion 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Tom Butt 
City of Richmond 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 

 
1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 
781 Lincoln Ave., #320  
San Rafael, CA 94901  

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  

Executive Committee Meeting 
Wednesday, August 20, 2014 

9:00 A.M. 
 

San Rafael Corporate Center, Boro Room 
750 Lindaro Street, San Rafael, CA 94901 

 
Agenda  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected in the Marin County Sheriff’s lobby, located at 3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903. The meeting facilities are in 
accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you 
may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE 
program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at 
djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

 
11. Adjourn 

 

MCE 



1 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY  
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, JULY 16, 2014 
9:00 A.M. 

SAN RAFAEL CORPORATE CENTER, BORO ROOM 
750 LINDARO STREET, SAN RAFAEL, CA 94901 

 
Roll Call 
Present:   

 Damon Connolly, City of San Rafael, Chair 
 Tom Butt, City of Richmond 
 Kate Sears, County of Marin 

Denise Athas, City of Novato 
  Bob McCaskill, City of Belvedere 

Absent:  
  Sloan Bailey, Town of Corte Madera 

  
Staff: Dawn Weisz, Executive Officer 
 Beth Kelly, Legal Director 
 Shalini Swaroop, Legal Counsel  

Emily Goodwin, Director of Internal Operations 
    Greg Morse, Business Analyst 
     
 
Agenda Item #4 – Approval of 4.16.14 Minutes (Discussion/Action) 
 
M/s Athas/Sears (passed 5-0) the approval of the 4.16.14 Executive Committee minutes.  Director 
Bailey was absent. 
 
 
Agenda Item #5 – Approval of 6.18.14.14 Minutes (Discussion/Action) 
 
M/s Athas/Butt (passed 5-0) the approval of the 6.18.14 Executive Committee minutes.  Director Bailey 
was absent. 
 
 
Agenda Item #6 – MCE Office Space Proposal (Discussion/Action) 
 
M/s Sears/McCaskill (passed 5-0) the approval to sign the Letter of Intent term sheet for 700 Fifth 
Avenue.  Director Bailey was absent. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item #4: 7.16.14 Meeting Minutes



2 
 

 
 

 
Damon Connolly, Chair 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

 
Dawn Weisz, Executive Officer 

Agenda Item #4: 7.16.14 Meeting Minutes



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
August 20, 2014 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Executive Committee 
 
FROM:  Greg Morse, Business Analyst 
 
RE: Changes to Monthly Budget Report (Agenda Item #05) 
 
ATTACHMENT: MCE Budget Reports 2014-05 (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
Dear Executive Committee Members: 
 
 
SUMMARY:   
 
During the June Board meeting Director alternate Katie Hoertkorn, suggested possible 
improvements that could be made for the format in which monthly financial information is 
presented to the Board.  Working with Director McCaskill and Maher Accountancy, MCE 
staff has created a new format for monthly budget reports.  This new format compares 
year-to-date spending in the various expense categories with the same year-to-date 
spending in the previous year, the budgeted year to date spending, and overall annual 
budget.   
 
Since bringing this item to the July Executive Committee meeting a new column has 
been added, at the committee’s suggestion, covering the dollar variance from budget.  It 
was determined that a footnote section for large variances could be included at the 
Maher’s discretion.  Large variances will also continue be covered in the staff report that 
is provided with the monthly budget report. This new format should help the Board and 
members of the public get a better snapshot of MCE’s spending activities and how the 
agency is performing relative to projections. 
 
 
Recommendation: Consider approval of the proposed and adjusted budget format. 
 

MCE 



 2013/14 YTD 
Actual 

 2014/15 YTD 
Budget 

 2014/15 YTD 
Actual 

2014/15 YTD 
Budget Variance 

(Under) Over

2014/15 YTD 
Actual/Budget 

Variance %
 2014/15 Annual 

Budget 
 2014/15 Budget 

Remaining 
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
    Revenue - Electricity (net of allowance) 16,012,384$        25,143,436$        24,098,732$        (1,044,704.18)$      95.85% 101,138,394$      77,039,662$        

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES:
CURRENT EXPENDITURES
    Cost of energy 15,724,262          19,943,670          19,525,314          (418,356)                97.90% 88,410,551          68,885,237          
    Staffing 324,208               468,000               465,049               (2,951)                    99.37% 1,950,000            1,484,951            
    Technical consultants 142,006               139,218               127,278               (11,940)                  91.42% 560,000               432,722               
    Legal counsel 44,335                 104,688               74,873                 (29,815)                  71.52% 335,000               260,127               
    Communications consultants
         and related expenses 336,251               140,625               142,653               2,028                     101.44% 750,000               607,347               
    Data manager 503,884               667,500               659,857               (7,643)                    98.85% 2,670,000            2,010,143            
    Service fees- PG&E 125,093               167,500               175,286               7,786                     104.65% 670,000               494,714               
    Other services 48,919                 75,000                 66,459                 (8,541)                    88.61% 300,000               233,541               
    General and administration 62,586                 87,500                 88,329                 829                        100.95% 350,000               261,671               
    Marin County green business program -                           -                           -                           -                             0.00% 15,000                 15,000                 
    Solar rebates -                           -                           -                           -                             0.00% 25,000                 25,000                 
     Total current expenditures 17,311,544          21,793,701          21,325,098          (468,603)                97.85% 96,035,551          74,710,453          

CAPITAL OUTLAY 378                      5,000                   9,260                   4,260                     185.20% 20,000                 10,740                 

DEBT SERVICE 298,291               298,750               298,470               (280)                       99.91% 1,195,000            896,530               

INTERFUND TRANSFER TO:
    Local Renewable Energy Development Fund 51,536                 109,994               109,994               -                             100.00% 109,994               -                           

     Total expenditures 17,661,749          22,207,445          21,742,822          (464,623)$              97.91% 97,360,545          75,617,723$        

Net increase (decrease) in available fund balance (1,649,365)$         2,935,991$          2,355,910$          3,777,849$          

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY
OPERATING FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
April 1, 2014 through June 30, 2014

Agenda Item #5-Att: Monthly Budget Reporting Format Update



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

AIR 

STANDARDINDUST 
TATE ASS CIATION 

INGLE-T NANT LEASE -- GROSS 
(DO NOT USE THIS FORM FOR MUL Tl-TENANT BUILDINGS) 

1. Basic Provisions ("Basic Provisions"). 

1.1 Parties: This Lease ("Lease"), dated for reference purposes only _A_u_g~u_s_t __ ~, _2_0_1_4~'------------

is made by and between 700 FIFTH AVENUE, LLC, a California limited liability company 

("Lessor") 

and MARIN CLEAN ENERGY, a non-profit governmental agency/joint powers authority 

("Lessee"), 

(collectively the "Parties," or individually a "Party"). 

1.2 Premises: That certain real property, including all improvements therein or to be provided by Lessor under the terms of this Lease, 

and commonly known as 700 Fifth Avenue, San Rafael 

located in the County of _M_a_r_i_n _______________ _ , State of California 

and generally described as (describe briefly the nature of the property and, if applicable, the "Project", if the property is located within a Project) 

a two-story building and adjoining parking lot 

1.3 Term:ten (10) 
("Premises"). (See also Paragraph 2) 

onths ( 'Original Term") ommencing January 1, 2015 

("Commencement Date") and ending _D_e--+-----1c-+"--~,__-+------1----+-------+-------- ("Expiration Date"). 

(See also Paragraph 3) 

1.4 Early Possession: If the 
n/a 

1.5 BaseRent: $19,890 

possession of the Premises commencing 
(See also Paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3) 

day of each month commencing fourth month after the Commencement Date 

. (See also Paragraph 4) 

0 If this box is checked, there are provisions in this Lease for the Base Rent to be adjusted. See Paragraph 
-------

1.6 Base Rent and Other Monies Paid Upon Execution: 

(a) Base Rent: $19,890.00 for the period fourth month of the Original Term 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

Security Deposit: $_4_4_,_,_8_7_7_._0_0 _____ _ 
Association Fees: $ -----------
0th er: $ for -----------

("Security Deposit"). (See also Paragraph 5) 
for the period _________________ _ 

(e) Total Due Upon Execution of this Lease: $_6_4~1 _7_6_7_._0_0 ___________________ _ 

1.7 Agreed Use: General office for the conduct of Lessee's business 
(See also Paragraph 6) 

1.8 Insuring Party: Lessor is the "Insuring Party". The annual estimated "Base Premium" is $1 7, 910. 0 0 (See also 

Paragraph 8) and 54, 
1.9 Real Estate Brokers: (S e also Para h 15 and 25) 

(a) Representation: The folio · g re I est e broker (the "B okers") and brok rage relationships exist in this transaction (check 
applicable boxes): 

0 Cassidy Turley Commercial r presents Lessor exclusively ("Lessor's Broker"); 

INITIALS INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

@Cornish & Carey Commercial 

• 
represents Lessee exclusively ("Lessee's Broker"); or 

represents both Lessor and Lessee ("Dual Agency"). 
---------------------------------

(b) Payment to Brokers: Upon execution an~ghis Lease by both Parties, Lessor shall-p::iy to the Brokers for the brol~erage 

services rendereEI - eEl-to----im=tre-attaBooE!--€~8-fclte---!'M'lttef'l=,* ent is attached, the sum of 

Re-A-t-payab-le during any perioEI of tim 

or % of the purchase price in t 

See Paragraph 59. 

1.10 Guarantor. The obligatio 

1.11 Attachments. Attached hereto are the following, all of which constitute a part of this Lease: 

0 an Addendum consisting of Paragraphs 5 0 through 5 9 

@ a plot plan depicting the Premises (Exhibit A); 

D a current set of the Rules and Regulations; 

0 a Work Letter (Exhibit B and B-1); 

D other (specify): 

---------

of the total Base 

("Guarantor"). (See also Paragraph 37) 

----------------------------------------------

2. Premises. 
2.1 Letting. Lessor hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the Premise's, for the term, at the rental, and 

upon all of the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Lease. While the approximate square footage of the Premises may have been used in 
the marketing of the Premises for purposes of comparison, the Base Rent stated herein is NOT tied to square footage and is not subject to adjustment 
should the actual size be determined to be different. Note: Lessee is advised to verify the actual size prior to executing this Lease. 

2.2 Condition. Lessor shall deliver the Premises to Lessee broom clean and free of debris on the Commencement Date or the Early 
Possession Date, whichever first occurs ("Start Date"), and, so long as the required service contracts described in Paragraph 7.1 (b) below are 
obtained by Lessee and in effect within thirty days following the Start Date, warrants that the existing electrical, plumbing, fire sprinkler, lighting, heating, 
ventilating and air conditioning systems ("HVAC"), loading doors, sump pumps, if any, and all other such elements in the Premises, other than those 
constructed by Lessee, shall be in good o er · con it10 n said d and t at the surface an structural elements of the roof, bearing walls and 
foundation of any buildings on the Premises (the ' uil ing") hall be r of m terial defects, and that the Unit does not contain hazardous levels of 
any mold or fungi defined as toxic under a plicable tat or fed ral la . If a non compliance with s id warranty exists as of the Start Date, or if one of 
such systems or elements should malfunc ion or fail thin t appr priat war anty period, Less r shall, as Lessor's sole obligation with respect to 
such matter, except as otherwise provided n this Lea e mptly af r rece· t o written notice fro Lessee setting forth with specificity the nature and 
extent of such non-compliance, malfunction or failure r c ·ty same aH,,""""'.,.,.... ex ense. The warra ty periods shall be as follows: (i) 6 months as to the 
HVAC systems, and (ii) 30 days as to the emaini s te s and ther ele ens of the Building. If Lessee does not give Lessor the required notice 
within the appropriate warranty period, corr cti of an sucli on- ompliance alfunction or failur shall be the obligation of Lessee at Lessee's sole 
cost and expense, except for the roof, foun ations, and earing walls which are handled as provided in paragraph 7. 

2.3 Compliance. Lessor warrants that to the best of its knowledge the improvements on the Premises comply with the building codes, 
applicable laws, covenants or restrictions of record, regulations, and ordinances ("Applicable Requirements") that were in effect at the time that each 
improvement, or portion thereof, was constructed. Said warranty does not apply to the use to which Lessee will put the Premises, modifications which 
may be required by the Americans with Disabilities Act or any similar laws as a result of Lessee's use (see Paragraph 50), or to any Alterations or Utility 
Installations (as defined in Paragraph 7.3(a)) made or to be made by Lessee. NOTE: Lessee is responsible for determining whether or not the 
Applicable Requirements, and especially the zoning, are appropriate for Lessee's intended use, and acknc>Wledges that past uses of the 
Premises may no longer be allowed. If the Premises do not comply with said warranty, Lessor shall, except as otherwise provided, promptly after 
receipt of written notice from Lessee setting forth with specificity the nature and extent of such non-compliance, rectify the same at Lessor's expense. If 
Lessee does not give Lessor written notice of a non-compliance with this warranty within 6 months following the Start Date, correction of that 
non-compliance shall be the obligation of Lessee at Lessee's sole cost and expense. If the Applicable Requirements are hereafter changed so as to 
require during th.e term of this Lease the construction of an addition to or an alteration of the Premises and/or Building, the remediation of any 
Hazardous Substance, or the reinforcement or other physical modification of the Unit, Premises and/or Building ("Capital Expenditure"), Lessor and 
Lessee shall allocate the cost of such work as follows: 

(a) Subject to Paragraph 2.3(c) below, if such Capital Expenditures are required as a result of the specific and unique use of the 
Premises by Lessee as compared with uses by tenants in general, Lessee shall be fully responsible for the cost thereof, provided, however that if such 
Capital Expenditure is required during the last 2 years of this Lease and the cost thereof exceeds 6 months' Base Rent, Lessee may instead terminate 
this Lease unless Lessor notifies Lessee, in writing, within 10 days after receipt of Lessee's termination notice that Lessor has elected to pay the 
difference between the actual cost thereof and an amount equal to 6 months' Base Rent. If Lessee elects termination, Lessee shall immediately cease 
the use of the Premises which requires such Capital Expenditure and deliver to Lessor written notice specifying a termination date at least 90 days 
thereafter. Such termination date shall, however, in no event be earlier than the last day that Lessee could legally utilize the Premises without 
commencing such Capital Expenditure. 

(b) If such Capital Expenditure is not the result of the specific and uni ue use of the Premises by Lessee (such as, governmentally 
mandated seismic modifications), then Les or II pay for ch Capita xpendi ure and Lessees all only be obligated to pay, each month during the 
remainder of the term of this Lease or any xtensio th reof, o the da at on hich the Base Re tis due, an amount equal to 11144th of the portion 
of such costs reasonably attributable to th Premise . essee hall p y I terest on the balance bu may prepay its obligation at any time. If, however, 
such Capital Expenditure is required during the last 2 y ars o this L se if L ssor reasonably d !ermines that ii is not economically feasible to pay 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

its share thereof, Lessor shall have the option to terminate this Lease upon 90 days prior written notice to Lessee unless Lessee notifies Lessor, in 

writing, within 10 days after receipt of Lessor's termination notice that Lessee will pay for such Capital Expenditure. If Lessor does not elect to 
terminate, and fails to tender its share of any such Capital Expenditure, Lessee may advance such funds and deduct same, with Interest, from Rent 

until Lessor's share of such costs have been fully paid. If Lessee is unable to finance Lessor's share, or if the balance of the Rent due and payable for 
the remainder of this Lease is not sufficien to fully rei urse Lessee on an offs · =u=-,"f.il<ULL...,ve the right to terminate this Lease upon 30 
days written notice to Lessor. 

(c) Notwithstanding th above, th provi ions c n ming Capital Expenditu es are intended to apply only to non-voluntary, 
unexpected, and new Applicable Require ents. If h Capit Expe dit res a e instead triggere by Lessee as a result of an actual or proposed 

change in use, change in intensity of use, or modifi a ion t the Pr mise the and in that eve I, Lessee shall either: (i) immediately cease such 

changed use or intensity of use and/or tak such ot e eps as m y be n ces ary to eliminate I e requirement for such Capital Expenditure, or (ii) 
complete such Capital Expenditure at its o n expen . e see shall no , o ve , have any right to erminate this Lease. 

2.4 Acknowledgements. essee ckn wl ges t at: (a) it H s een given an opp rtunity to inspect and measure the Premises, (b) it 

has been advised by Lessor and/or Brokers satisfy itself ith respect to size and conditio of the Premises (including but not limited to the 
electrical, HVAC and fire sprinkler systems, security, environmental aspects, and compliance with Applicable Requirements and the Americans with 

Disabilities Act), and their suitability for Lessee's intended use, (c) Lessee has made such investigation as it deems necessary with reference to such 
matters and assumes all responsibility therefor as the same relate to its occupancy of the Premises, (d) it is not relying on any representation as to the 

size of the Premises made by Brokers or Lessor, (e) the square footage of the Premises was not material to Lessee's decision to lease the Premises 

and pay the Rent stated herein, and (f) neither Lessor, Lessor's agents, nor Brokers have made any oral or written representations or warranties with 
respect to said matters other than as set forth in this Lease. In addition, Lessor acknowledges that: (i) Brokers have made no representations, 

promises or warranties concerning Lessee's ability to honor the Lease or suitability to occupy the Premises, and (ii) it is Lessor's sole responsibility to 
investigate the financial capability and/or suitability of all proposed tenants. 

2.5 Lessee as Prior Owner/Occupant. The warranties made by Lessor in Paragraph 2 shall be of no force or effect if immediately 

prior to the Start Date Lessee was the owner or occupant of the Premises. In such event, Lessee shall be responsible for any necessary corrective 
work. 
3. Term. 

3.1 Term. The Commencement Date, Expiration Date and Original Term of this Lease are as specified in Paragraph 1.3. 
3.2 Early Possession. Any provision herein granting Lessee Early Possession of the Premises is subject to and conditioned upon the 

Premises being available for such possession prior to the Commencement Date. Any grant of Early Possession only conveys a non-exclusive right to 

occupy the Premises. If Lessee totally or partially occupies the Premises prior to the Commencement Date, the obligation to pay Base Rent shall be 

abated for the period of such Early Possession. All other terms of this Lease (including but not limited to the obligations to pay Real Property Taxes 
and insurance premiums and to maintain the Premises) shall be in effect during such period. Any such Early Possession shall not affect the Expiration 
Date. 

3.3 

Lessee Compliance. r shall not be req ired to deli e possession of the Premises to Lessee until Lessee complies with its 

obligation to provide evidence of insurance (Paragraph 8.5). Pending delivery of such evidence, Lessee shall be required to perform all of its 
obligations under this Lease from and after the Start Date, including the payment of Rent, notwithstanding Lessor's election to withhold possession 

pending receipt of such evidence of insurance. Further, if Lessee is required to perform any other conditions prior to or concurrent with the Start Date, 

the Start Date shall occur but Lessor may elect to withhold possession until such conditions are satisfied. 
4. Rent. 

4.1. Rent Defined. All monetary obligations of Lessee to Lessor under the terms of this Lease (except for the Security Deposit) are 

deemed to be rent ("Rent"). 
4.2 Payment. . Lessee shall cause payment of Rent to be received by Lessor in lawful money of the United States, without offset or 

deduction (except as specifically permitted in this Lease), on or before the day on which it is due. All monetary amounts shall be rounded to the nearest 

whole dollar. In the event that any invoice prepared by Lessor is inaccurate such inaccuracy shall not constitute a waiver and Lessee shall be obligated 

to pay the amount set forth in this Lease. Rent for any period during the term hereof which is for less than one full calendar month shall be prorated 
based upon the actual number of days of said month. Payment of Rent shall be made to Lessor at its address stated herein or to such other persons or 

place as Lessor may from time to time designate in writing. Acceptance of a payment which is less than the amount then due shall not be a waiver of 

Lessor's rights to the balance of such Rent, regardless of Lessor's endorsement of any check so stating. In the event that any check, draft, or other 

instrument of payment given by Lessee to Lessor is dishonored for any reason, Lessee agrees to pay to Lessor the sum of $25 in addition to any Late 
Charge and Lessor, at its option, may require all future payments to be made by Lessee to be by cashier's check. Payments will be applied first to 

accrued late charges and attorney's fees, second to accrued interest, then to Base Rent, Insurance and Real Property Taxes, and any remaining 
amount to any other outstanding charges or costs. 

4.3 Association Fees. In addition to the Base Rent, Lessee shall pay to Lessor each month an amount equal to any owner's 
association or condominium fees levied or assessed against the Premises. Said monies shall be paid at the same time and in the same manner as the 
Base Rent. 
5. Security Deposit. Lessee shall deposit with Lessor upon execution hereof the Security Deposit as security for Lessee's faithful performance 
of its obligations under this Lease. If Less ils to pa t, or otherwi e DefaU-W.:HMlGef-Rli , or may use, apply or retain all or any portion 

of said Security Deposit for the payment of an amo nt a ady du essor, for Rents which ill be due in the future, and/ or to reimburse or 

compensate Lessor for any liability, expen e, loss d mage hich L ss r may suffer or incur by eason thereof. If Lessor uses or applies all or any 
portion of the Security Deposit, Lessee sh II within 1 ays aft r writt n r uest therefor deposit m nies with Lessor sufficient to restore said Security 

Deposit to the full amount required by this Lease. If h Ba Rent · crea es d · erm oft is Lease, Lessee shall, upon written request from 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

Lessor, deposit additional monies with Lessor so that the total amount of the Security Deposit shall at all times bear the same proportion to the 
increased Base Rent as the initial Security Deposit bore to the initial Base Rent. Should the Agreed Use be amended to accommodate a material 
change in the business of Lessee or to accommodate a sublessee or assignee, Lessor shall have the right to increase the Security Deposit to the 
extent necessary, in Lessor's reasonable judgment, to account for any increased wear and tear that the Premises may suffer as a result thereof. If a 
change in control of Lessee occurs during is Lease a following sue change · ia · · Lessee is, in Lessor's reasonable judgment, 
significantly reduced, Lessee shall depos t su addi iona onies i h Less r as shall be su ficient to cause the Security Deposit to be at a 
commercially reasonable level based on su h chan e in financi I condi io . Les or shall not be req ired to keep the Security Deposit separate from its 
general accounts. Within 90 days after the expiratio o termin lion o thi Leas , Lessor shall rel rn that portion of the Security Deposit not used or 
applied by Lessor. No part of the Security eposit sh II e co idere to be held n trust to bear int rest or to be prepayment for any monies to be paid 
by Lessee under this Lease. 
6. Use. 

6.1 Use. Lessee shall use and o upy the remis s only fo th Agreed Use, mparable 
tllefete, and for no other purpose. Lessee not us or p rmi the use of h Premises in a m nner that is unlawful, creates damage, waste or a 
nuisance, or that disturbs occupants of or causes damage to neighboring premises or properties. Other than guide, signal and seeing eye dogs, Lessee 
shall not keep or allow in the Premises any pets, animals, birds, fish, or reptiles. Lessor shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent to any 
written request for a modification of the Agreed Use, so long as the same will not impair the structural integrity of the improvements on the Premises or 
the mechanical or electrical systems therein, and/or is not significantly more burdensome to the Premises. If Lessor elects to withhold consent, Lessor 
shall within 7 days after such request give written notification of same, which notice shall include an explanation of Lessor's objections to the change in 
the Agreed Use. 

6.2 Hazardous Substances. 
(a) Reportable Uses Require Consent. The term "Hazardous Substance" as used in this Lease shall mean any product, 

substance, or waste whose presence, use, manufacture, disposal, transportation, or release, either by itself or in combination with other materials 
expected to be on the Premises, is either: (i) potentially injurious to the public health, safety or welfare, the environment or the Premises, (ii) regulated 
or monitored by any governmental authority, or (iii) a basis for potential liability of Lessor to any governmental agency or third party under any applicable 
statute or common law theory. Hazardous Substances shall include, but not be limited to, hydrocarbons, petroleum, gasoline, and/or crude oil or any 
products, by-products or fractions thereof. Lessee shall not engage in any activity in or on the Premises which· constitutes a Reportable Use of 
Hazardous Substances without the express prior written consent of Lessor and timely compliance (at Lessee's expense) with all Applicable 
Requirements. "Reportable Use" shall mean (i) the installation or use of any above or below ground storage tank, (ii) the generation, possession, 
storage, use, transportation, or disposal of a Hazardous Substance that requires a permit from, or with respect to which a report, notice, registration or 
business plan is required to be filed with, any governmental authority, and/or (iii) the presence at the Premises of a Hazardous Substance with respect 
to which any Applicable Requirements requires that a notice be given to persons entering or occupying the Premises or neighboring properties. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee may use any ordinary and customary materials reasonably required to be used in the normal course of the 
Agreed Use, ordinary office supplies (copier toner, liquid paper, glue, etc.) and common household cleaning materials, so long as such use is in 
compliance with all Applicable Requirements, is not a Reportable Use, and does not expose the Premises or neighboring property to any meaningful 
risk of contamination or damage or expose Lessor to any liability therefor. In addition, Lessor may condition its consent to any Reportable Use upon 
receiving such additional assurances as L or reason deems nece sary to · If · he Premises and/or the environment against 
damage, contamination, injury and/or liabili y, in ding, but n t limited the in tallation (and rem val on or before Lease expiration or termination) of 
protective modifications (such as concrete ncase nt ) and/o increa in the S curity Deposit. 

(b) Duty to Inform Le sor. If L s ee kno s, or as easo able cause to beli ve, that a Hazardous Substance has come to be 
located in, on, under or about the Premise , other th n s pr iously ons led 1,.1.LJL.l,lLL.C.=ur, Less e shall immediately give written notice of such fact 
to Lessor, and provide Lessor with a copy f any rep rt, otice, clai or oth r d cumentation which it has concerning the presence of such Hazardous 
Substance. 

it any Hazardous S bstance to be spilled or released in, on, under, or 
about the Premises (including through the ing o sanit y ewer syste ) and shall promptl , at Lessee's expense, comply with all Applicable 
Requirements and take all investigatory and/or remedial action reasonably recommended, whether or not formally ordered or required, for the cleanup 
of any contamination of, and for the maintenance, security and/or monitoring of the Premises or neighboring properties, that was caused or materially 
contributed to by Lessee, or pertaining to or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Premises during the term of this Lease, by or for 
Lessee, or any third party. 

(d) Lessee Indemnification. Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor, its agents, employees, lenders and ground lessor, 
if any, harmless from and against any and all loss of rents and/or damages, liabilities, judgments, claims, expenses, penalties, and attorneys' and 
consultants' fees arising out of or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Premises by or for Lessee, or any third party (provided, 
however, that Lessee shall have no liability under this Lease with respect to underground migration of any Hazardous Substance under the Premises 
from adjacent properties not caused or contributed to by Lessee). Lessee's obligations shall include, but not be limited to, the effects of any 
contamination or injury to person, property or the environment created or suffered by Lessee, and the cost of investigation, removal, remediation, 
restoration and/or abatement, and shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease. No termination, cancellation or release agreement 
entered into by Lessor and Lessee shall release Lessee from its obligations under this Lease with respect to Hazardous Substances, unless 
specifically so agreed by Lessor in writing at the time of such agreement. 

(e) Lessor Indemnification. Lessor and its successors and assigns shall indemnify, defend, reimburse and hold Lessee, its 
employees and lenders, harmless from and against any and all environmental damages, including the cost of remediation, which result from 
Hazardous Substances which existed on the Premises prior to Lessee's occupancy or which are caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct 
of Lessor, its agents or employees. Lessor's obligations, as and when required by the Applicable Requirements, shall include, but not be limited to, the 
cost of investigation, removal, remediation, restoration and/or abatement, and shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease. 

(f) Investigations and Remediations. Lessor shall retain the responsibility and pay for any investigations or remediation 
measures required by governmental entities having jurisdiction with respect to the existence of Hazardous Substances on the Premises prior to 
Lessee's occupancy, unless such remediation measure is required as a result of Lessee's use (including "Alterations", as defined in paragraph 7.3(a) 
below) of the Premises, in which event Lessee shall be responsible for such payment. Lessee shall cooperate fully in any such activities at the request 
of Lessor, including allowing Lessor and L r's agent have reason ble acc~;-w-m<a-Pr · asonable times in order to carry out Lessor's 
investigative and remedial responsibilities. 

(g) Lessor Terminatio Option If a Haza ous S b lance ondition (see Par graph 9.1 (e)) occurs during the term of this Lease, 
unless Lessee is legally responsible there or (in whi h case ssee hall make the investigation nd remediation thereof required by the Applicable 
Requirements and this Lease shall continu in full fo c an effect, ut su ject ' rights nder Paragraph 6.2(d) and Paragraph 13), Lessor 

INITIALS 

©2001 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

may, at Lessor's option, either (i) investigate and remediate such Hazardous Substance Condition, if required, as soon as reasonably possible at 
Lessor's expense, in which event this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, or (ii) if the estimated cost to remediate such condition exceeds 12 
times the then monthly Base Rent or $100,000, whichever is greater, give written notice to Lessee, within 30 days after receipt by Lessor of knowledge 
of the occurrence of such Hazardous Substance Condition, of Lessor's desire to terminate this Lease as of the date 60 days following the date of such 
notice. In the event Lessor elects to giv a terminat' notice, Less e may, ,J!WCLUL'-'-'"-d r.eafter, give written notice to Lessor of Lessee's 
commitment to pay the amount by which th cos f the reme iation of ch Haz rdous Substance ondition exceeds an amount equal to 12 times the 
then monthly Base Rent or $100,000, whi hever i gre ter. L ssee a I provi e Lessor with sai funds or satisfactory assurance thereof within 30 
days following such commitment. In such vent, thi L ase sh II con mu in full force and effect, nd Lessor shall proceed to make such remediation 
as soon as reasonably possible after the re uired fun s are a ilable. If Le see oes no ive such notice and provide the required funds or assurance 
thereof within the time provided, this Lease shall term· as of the ate sp cifie in Lessor's nolic of termination. 

6.3 Lessee's Compliance with Ap Ii a e Requi ements. E cept as otherwise provided in this Lease, Lessee shall, at Lessee's 
sole expense, fully, diligently and in a ti ely m ner, ma rially omply wi h II Applicable Req irements, the requirements of any applicable fire 
insurance underwriter or rating bureau, an recom end ion of Lessor' ngineers and/or c nsultants which relate in any manner to the such 
Requirements, without regard to whether such Requirements are now in effect or become effective after the Start Date. Lessee shall, within 1 O days 
after receipt of Lessor's written request, provide Lessor with copies of all permits and other documents, and other information evidencing Lessee's 
compliance with any Applicable Requirements specified by Lessor, and shall immediately upon receipt, notify Lessor in writing (with copies of any 

documents involved) of any threatened or actual claim, notice, citation, warning, complaint or report pertaining to or involving the failure of Lessee or the 
Premises to comply with any Applicable Requirements. Likewise, Lessee shall immediately give written notice to Lessor of: (i) any water damage to the 
Premises and any suspected seepage, pooling, dampness or other condition conducive to the production of mold; or (ii) any mustiness or other odors 
that might indicate the presence of mold in the Premises. 

6.4 Inspection; Compliance. Lessor and Lessor's "Lender" (as defined in Paragraph 30) and consultants shall have the right to 
enter into Premises at any lime, in the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times after reasonable notice, for the purpose of inspecting 
the condition of the Premises and for verifying compliance by Lessee with this Lease. The cost of any such inspections shall be paid by Lessor, unless 
a violation of Applicable Requirements, or a Hazardous Substance Condition (see paragraph 9.1) is found to exist or be imminent, or the inspection is 
requested or ordered by a governmental authority. In such case, Lessee shall upon request reimburse Lessor for the cost of such inspection, so long 
as such inspection is reasonably related to the violation or contamination. In addition, Lessee shall provide copies of all relevant material safety data 

sheets (MSDS) to Lessor within 10 days of the receipt of a written request therefor. 
7. Maintenance; Repairs; Utility Installations; Trade Fixtures and Alterations. 

7.1 Lessee's Obligations. 
(a) In General. Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 2.2 (Condition), 2.3 (Compliance), 6.3 (Lessee's Compliance with Applicable 

Requirements), 7.2 (Lessor's Obligations), 9 (Damage or Destruction), and 14 (Condemnation), Lessee shall, at Lessee's sole expense, keep the 
Premises, Utility Installations (intended for Lessee's exclusive use, no matter where located), and Alterations in good order, condition and repair 
(whether or not the portion of the Premises requiring repairs, or the means of repairing the same, are reasonably or readily accessible to Lessee, and 

whether or not the need for such repairs occurs as a result of Lessee's use, any prior use, the elements or the age of such portion of the Premises), 
including, but not limited to, all equipment or facilities, such as plumbing, HVAC equipment, electrical, lighting facilities, boilers, pressure vessels, fire 
protection system, fixtures, walls (interior exterior) ilings, floors, window...._l.W1.,,_,,,,--/J1a=-W<=,_.,,4'1ights, landscaping, driveways, parking lots, 
fences, retaining walls, signs, sidewalks an par ays I cate in, on, o djacen to the Premises. essee is also responsible for keeping the roof and 
roof drainage clean and free of debris. Les or shal ee the s rface a d tructural elements of th roof, foundations, and bearing walls in good repair 
(see paragraph 7.2). Lessee, in keeping t e Premis s in goo order co dition and repair, shall xercise and perform good maintenance practices, 
specifically including the procurement and aintenan e oft servic cont cts · Paragr ph 7.1 (b) below. Lessee's obligations shall include 
restorations, replacements or renewals wh n necess r o keep the Premis s a d all improvemen thereon or a part thereof in good order, condition 
and state of repair. Lessee shall, during t e term o th s ease, k p the e teri r appearance of t e Building in a first-class condition (including, e.g. 
graffiti removal) consistent with the exterior appea nee of o er si ilar faciliti s f comparable age and size in the vicinity, including, when necessary, 
the exterior repainting of the Building. 

(b) Service Contracts. Lessee shall, at Lessee's sole expense, procure and maintain contracts, with copies to Lessor, in 
customary form and substance for, and with contractors specializing and experienced in the maintenance of the following equipment and 
improvements, if any, if and when installed on the Premises: (i) HVAC equipment, (ii) boiler, and pressure vessels, (iii) fire extinguishing systems, 
including fire alarm and/or smoke detection, (iv) landscaping and irrigation systems, and (v) clarifiers. However, Lessor reserves the right, upon notice 
to Lessee, to procure and maintain any or all of such service contracts, and Lessee shall reimburse Lessor, upon demand, for the cost thereof. 

(c) Failure to Perform. If Lessee fails to perform Lessee's obligations under this Paragraph 7.1, Lessor may enter upon the 
Premises after 10 days' prior written notice to Lessee (except in the case of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be required), perform such 
obligations on Lessee's behalf, and put the Premises in good order, condition and repair, and Lessee shall promptly pay to Lessor a sum equal to 115% 
of the cost thereof. 

(d) Replacement. Subject to Lessee's indemnification of Lessor as set forth in Paragraph 8.7 below, and without relieving Lessee 
of liability resulting from Lessee's failure to exercise and perform good maintenance practices, if an item described in Paragraph 7.1 (b) cannot be 
repaired other than at a cost which is in excess of 50% of the cost of replacing such item, then such item shall be replaced by Lessor, and the cost 
thereof shall be prorated between the Parties and Lessee shall only be obligated to pay, each month during the remainder of the term of this Lease, on 
the date on which Base Rent is due, an amount equal to the product of multiplying the cost of such replacement by a fraction, the numerator of which is 
one, and the denominator of which is 144 (ie. 11144th of the cost per month). Lessee shall pay Interest on the unamortized balance but may prepay its 
obligation at any time. 

7.2 Lessor's Obligations. Subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 2.2 (Condition), 2.3 (Compliance), 9 (Damage or Destruction) and 
14 (Condemnation), ii is intended by the Parties hereto that Lessor have no obligation, in any manner whatsoever, to repair and maintain the Premises, 
or the equipment therein, all of which obligations are intended to be that of the Lessee, except for the surface and structural elements of the roof, 
foundations and bearing walls, the repair of which shall be the responsibility of Lessor upon receipt of written notice that such a repair is necessary. II is 
the intention of the Parties that the terms of this Lease govern the respective obligations of the Parties as to maintenance and repair of the Premises, 
and they expressly waive the benefit of any statute now or hereafter in effect to the extent it is inconsistent with the terms of this Lease. 

7.3 Utility Installations; T e Fixture · Iterations. 
(a) Definitions. The t rm " ility lnsta tions" r f rs to a I floor and window coverings, air and/or vacuum lines, power panels, 

electrical distribution, security and fire prot ction s te s, co munic io cabli g, lighting fixtures HVAC equipment, plumbing, and fencing in or on 

the Premises. The term "Trade Fixtures" shall me essee' mac iner and quipment that ca be removed without doing material damage to the 

Premises. The term "Alterations" shall difi lion of he i QJ'.l'.\Am~rn:her tha Utility Installations or Trade Fixtures, whether by 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

addition or deletion. "Lessee Owned Alterations and/or Utility Installations" are defined as Alterations and/or Utility Installations made by Lessee 
that are not yet owned by Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 7.4(a). 

(b) Consent. Lessee shall not make any Alterations or Utility Installations to the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent. 

Lessee may, however, make non-structural Alterations or Utility Installations to the interior of the Premises (excluding the roof) without such consent but 
upon notice to Lessor, as long as they are t visible fr the outside, o not in pu.nctu · · g or removing the roof or any existing walls, 

will not affect the electrical, plumbing, HV C, d/or I fe sa ty syste , and he cumulative co t thereof during this Lease as extended does not 
exceed a sum equal to 3 month's Base ent in t e ggrega or a u equ I to one month's ase Rent in any one year. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, Lessee shall not make or permit any roof e etratio and/ r in tall a ything on the roof ithout the prior written approval of Lessor. Lessor 
may, as a precondition to granting such a proval, re u re L see to tilize a COµJ.J..<11.<UJ.L..\..,1..1,osen an /or approved by Lessor. Any Alterations or Utility 

Installations that Lessee shall desire to m ke and w i require th conse t of the Lessor shall b presented to Lessor in written form with detailed 
plans. Consent shall be deemed condition d upon s e 's: (i) ac uiring all ap licable governmen al permits, (ii) furnishing Lessor with copies of both 

the permits and the plans and specificatio s prio to om ence ent of the w rk, and (iii) comp! ance with all conditions of said permits and other 

Applicable Requirements in a prompt and ious anne . A Alteration r Utility Installation shall be performed in a workmanlike manner with 
good and sufficient materials. Lessee shall promptly upon completion furnish Lessor with as-built plans and specifications. For work which costs an 

amount in excess of one month's Base Rent, Lessor may condition its consent upon Lessee providing a lien and completion bond in an amount equal 
to 150% of the estimated cost of such Alteration or Utility Installation and/or upon Lessee's posting an additional Security Deposit with Lessor. 

(c) Liens; Bonds. Lessee shall pay, when due, all claims for labor or materials furnished or alleged to have been furnished to or 
for Lessee at or for use on the Premises, which claims are or may be secured by any mechanic's or materialmen's lien against the Premises or any 
interest therein. Lessee shall give Lessor not less than 10 days notice prior to the commencement of any work in, on or about the Premises, and 

Lessor shall have the right to post notices of non-responsibility. If Lessee shall contest the validity of any such lien, claim or demand, then Lessee 

shall, at its sole expense defend and protect itself, Lessor and the Premises against the same and shall pay and satisfy any such adverse judgment that 
may be rendered thereon before the enforcement thereof. If Lessor shall require, Lessee shall furnish a surety bond in an amount equal to 150% of the 
amount of such contested lien, claim or demand, indemnifying Lessor against liability for the same. If Lessor elects to participate in any such action, 
Lessee shall pay Lessor's attorneys' fees and costs. 

7.4 Ownership; Removal; Surrender; and Restoration. 
(a) Ownership. Subject to Lessor's right to require removal or elect ownership as hereinafter provided, all Alterations and Utility 

Installations made by Lessee shall be the property of Lessee, but considered a part of the Premises. Lessor may, at any time, elect in writing to be the 
owner of all or any specified part of the Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations. Unless otherwise instructed per paragraph 7.4(b) hereof, all 

Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations shall, at the expiration or termination of this Lease, become the property of Lessor and be 
surrendered by Lessee with the Premises. 

(b) Removal. By delivery to Lessee of written notice from Lessor not earlier than 90 and not later than 30 days prior to the end of 

the term of this Lease, Lessor may require that any or all Lessee Owned Alterations or Utility Installations be removed by the expiration or termination of 
this Lease. Lessor may require the removal at any time of all or any part of any Lessee Owned Alterations or Utility Installations made without the 
required consent. 

(c) Surrender; Restoration. Lessee shall surrender the Premises by the Expiration Date or any earlier termination date, with all of 
the improvements, parts and surfaces ther broom cl and free of bris, a · o · , condition and state of repair, ordinary wear 

and tear excepted. "Ordinary wear and t ar" s II no incl e any d age or deterioration that ould have been prevented by good maintenance 

practice. Notwithstanding the foregoing, i this Le e s for 1 mont s r less, then Lessee shal surrender the Premises in the same condition as 
delivered to Lessee on the Start Date with NO allow n e for o dinary we and ear. Lessee shall repair any damage occasioned by the installation, 

maintenance or removal of Trade Fixtures, Lessee o ned ration and/ r Utility losiallations, fu nishings, and equipment as well as the removal of 
any storage tank installed by or for Lessee. Lessee h complete! remo e fr m the Premises a y and all Hazardous Substances brought onto the 

Premises by or for Lessee, or any third pa (excep a a dous Su stances hi h were deposited ia underground migration from areas outside of the 

Premises) even if such removal would req ire Les ee t pe orm o pay for w rk that exceeds stat tory requirements. Trade Fixtures shall remain the 

property of Lessee and shall be removed ssee. ny p rso al property o Lessee not remo ed on or before the Expiration Date or any earlier 
termination date shall be deemed to have been abandoned by Lessee and may be disposed of or retained by Lessor as Lessor may desire. The failure 

by Lessee to timely vacate the Premises pursuant to this Paragraph 7.4(c) without the express written consent of Lessor shall constitute a holdover 
under the provisions of Paragraph 26 below. 
8. Insurance; Indemnity. 

8.1 Payment of Premium Increases. 
(a) Lessee shall pay to Lessor any insurance cost increase ("Insurance Cost Increase") occurring during the term of this Lease. 

Insurance Cost Increase is defined as any increase in the actual cost of the insurance required under Paragraph 8.2(b), 8.3(a) and 8.3(b) ("Required 

Insurance"), over and above the Base Premium as hereinafter defined calculated on an annual basis. Insurance Cost Increase shall include but not be 
limited to increases resulting from the nature of Lessee's occupancy, any act or omission of Lessee, requirements of the holder of mortgage or deed of 
trust covering the Premises, increased valuation of the Premises and/or a premium rate increase. The parties are encouraged to fill in the Base 

Premium in paragraph 1.8 with a reasonable premium for the Required Insurance based on the Agreed Use of the Premises. If the parties fail to insert 

a dollar amount in Paragraph 1.8, then the Base Premium shall be the lowest annual premium reasonably obtainable for the Required Insurance as of 
the commencement of the Original Term for the Agreed Use of the Premises. In no event, however, shall Lessee be responsible for any portion of the 

increase in the premium cost attributable to liability insurance carried by Lessor under Paragraph 8.2(b) in excess of $2,000,000 per occurrence. 
(b) Lessee shall pay any such Insurance Cost Increase to Lessor within 30 days after receipt by Lessee of a copy of the premium 

statement or other reasonable evidence of the amount due. If the insurance policies maintained hereunder cover other property besides the Premises, 

Lessor shall also deliver to Lessee a statement of the amount of such Insurance Cost Increase attributable only to the Premises showing in reasonable 

detail the manner in which such amount was computed. Premiums for policy periods commencing prior to, or extending beyond the term of this Lease, 
shall be prorated to correspond to the term of this Lease. 

8.2 Liability Insurance. 
(a) Carried by Lessee. Lessee shall obtain and keep in force a Commercial General Liability policy of insurance protecting Lessee 

and Lessor as an additional insured against claims for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage based upon or arising out of the ownership, 
use, occupancy or maintenance of the Pre · s and a as appurte nt therewr.---l~~inS\:H'altOO--sfta-11 be on an occurrence basis providing single 

limit coverage in an amount not less than $ ,000, 0 p r occ rence wi an ann al aggregate of n t less than $2,000,000. Lessee shall add Lessor as 
an additional insured by means of an endo semen! t I ast as road a t lnsu ance Service Org nization's "Additional Insured-Managers or Lessors 

of Premises" Endorsement. The policy sh II not con ai any i Ira-in red exclu ions as between nsured persons or organizations, but shall include 

coverage for liability assumed under this L ase as an "i contr ct" f the 1136-Ffel"f!HffiCe of Le see's indemnity obligations under this Lease. The 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

limits of said insurance shall not, however, limit the liability of Lessee nor relieve Lessee of any obligation hereunder. Lessee shall provide an 

endorsement on its liability policy(ies) which provides that its insurance shall be primary to and not contributory with any similar insurance carried by 

Lessor, whose insurance shall be considered excess insurance only. 
(b) Carried by Lessor. Lessor shall maintain liability insurance as described in Paragraph 8.2(a), in addition to, and not in lieu of, 

the insurance required to be maintained by ssee. Le e shall not be amed "1-'=L.dll..i:1.Ullill' • erein. 

8.3 Property Insurance - uil 1 , Im 
(a) Building and lmpr vemen . 

loss payable to Lessor, any ground-lessor, nd to an L nder in uring oss r da age to the Premis s. The amount of such insurance shall be equal to 

the full insurable replacement cost of the remises, s the me sh II exi fro · · e, or t e amount required by any Lender, but in no event 

more than the commercially reasonable and availabl i urable val e there f. L ssee Owned Alie ations and Utility Installations, Trade Fixtures, and 

Lessee's personal property shall be insured by Less e o y Lesso . If the ov rage is available a d commercially appropriate, such policy or policies 

shall insure against all risks of direct physi al los or d ma e (ex pt the pe ils of flood and/or ea hquake unless required by a Lender or included in 

the Base Premium), including coverage fo Is rem val a t enforcem n of any Applicable Requirements requiring the upgrading, demolition, 

reconstruction or replacement of any portion of the Premises as the result of a covered loss. Said policy or policies shall also contain an agreed 

valuation provision in lieu of any coinsurance clause, waiver of subrogation, and inflation guard protection causing an increase in the annual property 

insurance coverage amount by a factor of not less than the adjusted U.S. Department of Labor Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers for the 

city nearest to where the Premises are located. If such insurance coverage has a deductible clause, the deductible amount shall not exceed $5,000 per 

occurrence, and Lessee shall be liable for such deductible amount in the event of an Insured Loss. 
(b) Rental Value. The Insuring Party shall obtain and keep in force a policy or policies in the name of Lessor with loss payable to 

Lessor and any Lender, insuring the loss of the full Rent for one year with an extended period of indemnity for an additional 180 days ("Rental Value 

insurance"). Said insurance shall contain an agreed valuation provision in lieu of any coinsurance clause, and the amount of coverage shall be 

adjusted annually to reflect the projected Rent otherwise payable by Lessee, for the next 12 month period. Lessee shall be liable for any deductible 

amount in the event of such loss. 
(c) Adjacent Premises. If the Premises are part of a larger building, or of a group of buildings owned by Lessor which are adjacent 

to the Premises, the Lessee shall pay for any increase in the premiums for the property insurance of such building or buildings if said increase is 

caused by Lessee's acts, omissions, use or occupancy of the Premises. 
8.4 Lessee's Property; Business Interruption Insurance; Worker's Compensation Insurance. 

(a) Property Damage. Lessee shall obtain and maintain insurance coverage on all of Lessee's personal property, Trade Fixtures, 

and Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations. Such insurance shall be full replacement cost coverage with a deductible of not to exceed 

$1,000 per occurrence. The proceeds from any such insurance shall be used by Lessee for the replacement of personal property, Trade Fixtures and 

Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations. Lessee shall provide Lessor with written evidence that such insurance is in force. 

(b) Business Interruption. Lessee shall obtain and maintain loss of income and extra expense insurance in amounts as will 

reimburse Lessee for direct or indirect loss of earnings attributable to all perils commonly insured against by prudent lessees in the business of Lessee 

or attributable to prevention of access to the Premises as a result of such perils. 
(c) Worker's Compensation Insurance. Lessee shall obtain and maintain Worker's Compensation Insurance in such amount as 

may be required by Applicable Requiremen 
(d) No Representation of A quat Cov rage. L s or ma es no representati n that the limits or forms of coverage of insurance 

specified herein are adequate to cover Les ee's pro ert , busin ss op at ns or obligations under I is Lease. 
8.5 Insurance Policies. I surance r q ired h rein s all b by c mpanies maintaining during the policy term a "General Policyholders 

Rating" of at least A-, VII, as set forth in I e most c rent · ue of' Best' Insurance Guide", or s ch other rating as may be required by a Lender. 

Lessee shall not do or permit to be done nything hi invalidate the re uire insurance polici s. Lessee shall, prior to the Start Date, deliver to 

Lessor certified copies of policies of such i surance or e ificates ith copi o the required endo sements evidencing the existence and amounts of 

the required insurance. No such policy sh II be c eel ble subj ct to mod ic lion except after 3 days prior written notice to Lessor. Lessee shall, 

at least 10 days prior to the expiration of s olicies, furn is Le sor with evI nee of renewals o "insurance binders" evidencing renewal thereof, or 

Lessor may order such insurance and charge the cost thereof to Lessee, which amount shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor upon demand. Such 

policies shall be for a term of at least one year, or the length of the remaining term of this Lease, whichever is less. If either Party shall fail to procure 

and maintain the insurance required to be carried by it, the other Party may, but shall not be required to, procure and maintain the same. 

8.6 Waiver of Subrogation. Without affecting any other rights or remedies, Lessee and Lessor each hereby release and relieve the 

other, and waive their entire right to recover damages against the other, for loss of or damage to its property arising out of or incident to the perils 

required to be insured against herein. The effect of such releases and waivers is not limited by the amount of insurance carried or required, or by any 

deductibles applicable hereto. The Parties agree to have their respective property damage insurance carriers waive any right to subrogation that such 

companies may have against Lessor or Lessee, as the case may be, so long as the insurance is not invalidated thereby. 

8.7 Indemnity. Except for Lessor's gross negligence or willful misconduct, Lessee shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless 

the Premises, Lessor and its agents, Lessor's master or ground lessor, partners and Lenders, from and against any and all claims, loss of rents and/or 

damages, liens, judgments, penalties, attorneys' and consultants' fees, expenses and/or liabilities arising out of, involving, or in connection with, the use 

and/or occupancy of the Premises by Lessee. If any action or proceeding is brought against Lessor by reason of any of the foregoing matters, Lessee 

shall upon notice defend the same at Lessee's expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Lessor and Lessor shall cooperate with Lessee in such 

defense. Lessor need not have first paid any such claim in order to be defended or indemnified. 

8.8 Exemption of Lessor and its Agents from Liability. Notwithstanding the negligence or breach of this Lease by Lessor or its 

agents, neither Lessor nor its agents shall be liable under any circumstances for: (i) injury or damage to the person or goods, wares, merchandise or 

other property of Lessee, Lessee's employees, contractors, invitees, customers, or any other person in or about the Premises, whether such damage or 

injury is caused by or results from fire, steam, electricity, gas, water or rain, indoor air quality, the presence of mold or from the breakage, leakage, 

obstruction or other defects of pipes, fire sprinklers, wires, appliances, plumbing, HVAC or lighting fixtures, or from any other cause, whether the said 

injury or damage results from conditions arising upon the Premises or upon other portions of the building of which the Premises are a part, or from other 

sources or places, (ii) any damages arising from any act or neglect of any other tenant of Lessor or from the failure of Lessor or its agents to enforce 

the provisions of any other lease in the Project, or (iii) injury to Lessee's business or for any loss of income or profit therefrom. Instead, ii is intended 

that Lessee's sole recourse in the event o h dama or injury be o file a · · olicy(ies) that Lessee is required to maintain 

pursuant to the provisions of paragraph 8. 

8.9 Failure to Provide In urance. L ssee a knowl dg s Iha any failure on its part to obtain or maintain the insurance required 

herein will expose Lessor to risks and pot ntially ca s Les r to in ur c sis not contemplated b this Lease, the extent of which will be extremely 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

difficult to ascertain. Accordingly, for any month or portion thereof that Lessee does not maintain the required insurance and/or does not provide Lessor 

with the required binders or certificates evidencing the existence of the required insurance, the Base Rent shall be automatically increased, without any 
requirement for notice to Lessee, by an amount equal to 10% of the then existing Base Rent or $100, whichever is greater. The parties agree that such 
increase in Base Rent represents fair and reasonable compensation for the additional risk/ costs that Lessor will incur by reason of Lessee's failure to 

maintain the required insurance. Such inc ase in Ba Rent shall in o event · a · ssee's Default or Breach with respect to the 
failure to maintain such insurance, prevent he e rcise fan of the oth rights nd remedies gran ed hereunder, nor relieve Lessee of its obligation to 

maintain the insurance specified in this Lea e. 
9. Damage or Destruction. 

9.1 Definitions. 
I mean d mage r d struction to the i provements on the Premises, other than Lessee 

hich ca r a nably b repaire in months or less f om the date of the damage or destruction. Lessor 
shall notify Lessee in writing within 30 d ys fro th da of t e damag o destruction as t whether or not the damage is Partial or Total. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Premises P amag shal ot include da a e to windows, doo s, and/or other similar items which Lessee has the 

responsibility to repair or replace pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 7.1. 
(b) "Premises Total Destruction" shall mean damage or destruction to the Premises, other than Lessee Owned Alterations and 

Utility Installations and Trade Fixtures, which cannot reasonably be repaired in 6 months or less from the date of the damage or destruction. Lessor 
shall notify Lessee in writing within 30 days from the date of the damage or destruction as to whether or not the damage is Partial or Total. 

(c) "Insured Loss" shall mean damage or destruction to improvements on the Premises, other than Lessee Owned Alterations and 

Utility Installations and Trade Fixtures, which was caused by an event required to be covered by the insurance described in Paragraph 8.3(a), 
irrespective of any deductible amounts or coverage limits involved. 

(d) "Replacement Cost" shall mean the cost to repair or rebuild the improvements owned by Lessor at the time of the occurrence 

to their condition existing immediately prior thereto, including demolition, debris removal and upgrading required by the operation of Applicable 

Requirements, and without deduction for depreciation. 
(e) "Hazardous Substance Condition" shall mean the occurrence or discovery of a condition involving the presence of, or a 

contamination by, a Hazardous Substance, in, on, or under the Premises which requires restoration. 
9.2 Partial Damage - Insured Loss. If a Premises Partial Damage that is an Insured Loss occurs, then Lessor shall, at Lessor's 

expense, repair such damage (but not Lessee's Trade Fixtures or Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations) as soon as reasonably possible 
and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect; provided, however, that Lessee shall, at Lessor's election, make the repair of any damage or 

destruction the total cost to repair of which is $10,000 or less, and, in such event, Lessor shall make any applicable insurance proceeds available to 

Lessee on a reasonable basis for that purpose. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the required insurance was not in force or the insurance proceeds are 
not sufficient to effect such repair, the Insuring Party shall promptly contribute the shortage in proceeds (except as to the deductible which is Lessee's 

responsibility) as and when required to complete said repairs. In the event, however, such shortage was due to the fact that, by reason of the unique 

nature of the improvements, full replacement cost insurance coverage was not commercially reasonable and available, Lessor shall have no obligation 

to pay for the shortage in insurance proceeds or to fully restore the unique aspects of the Premises unless Lessee provides Lessor with the funds to 

cover same, or adequate assurance thereof, within 10 days following receipt of written notice of such shortage and request therefor. If Lessor receives 
said funds or adequate assurance thereof · hin said day period, t e party · e · he repairs shall complete them as soon as 

reasonably possible and this Lease shall re ain full f rce a d effect. I such f nds or assurance re not received, Lessor may nevertheless elect by 

written notice to Lessee within 10 days t ereafter o: (i) ma e such re torati n and repair as i commercially reasonable with Lessor paying any 
shortage in proceeds, in which case this L ase shall re ain in full for e a d eff ct, or (ii) have thi Lease terminate 30 days thereafter. Lessee shall 
not be entitled to reimbursement of any fun s contrib t d b essee o rep ir an~'-""'-1--U-i.'1-1 age or estruction. Premises Partial Damage due to flood 

or earthquake shall be subject to Paragr ph 9.3, n t standing at the e ay be some insur nee coverage, but the net proceeds of any such 
insurance shall be made available for the r pairs if d 15 either P rty. 

9.3 Partial Damage - Uni sure Los . a Pr mises Pa ia Damage that is ot an Insured Loss occurs, unless caused by a 

negligent or willful act of Lessee (in which Lesse shal ma e the repai s at Lessee's expen e), Lessor may either: (i) repair such damage as 
soon as reasonably possible at Lessor's expense, in which event this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, or-(ii) terminate this Lease by giving 

written notice to Lessee within 30 days after receipt by Lessor of knowledge of the occurrence of such damage. Such termination shall be effective 60 

days following the date of such notice. In the event Lessor elects to terminate this Lease, Lessee shall have the right within 10 days after receipt of the 

termination notice to give written notice to Lessor of Lessee's commitment to pay for the repair of such damage without reimbursement from Lessor. 
Lessee shall provide Lessor with said funds or satisfactory assurance thereof within 30 days after making such commitment. In such event this Lease 

shall continue in full force and effect, and Lessor shall proceed to make such repairs as soon as reasonably possible after the required funds are 
available. If Lessee does not make the required commitment, this Lease shall terminate as of the dale specified in the termination notice. 

9.4 Total Destruction. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if a Premises Total Destruction occurs, this Lease shall terminate 

60 days following such Destruction. If the damage or destruction was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lessee, Lessor shall 
have the right to recover Lessor's damages from Lessee, except as provided in Paragraph 8.6. 

9.5 Damage Near End of Term. If at any time during the last 6 months of this Lease there is damage for which the cost to repair 
exceeds one month's Base Rent, whether or not an Insured Loss, Lessor may terminate this Lease effective 60 days following the date of occurrence of 

such damage by giving a written termination notice to Lessee within 30 days after the date of occurrence of such damage. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, if Lessee at that time has an exercisable option to extend this Lease or to purchase the Premises, then Lessee may preserve this Lease by, 

(a) exercising such option and (b) providing Lessor with any shortage in insurance proceeds (or adequate assurance thereof) needed to make the 

repairs on or before the earlier of (i) the date which is 10 days after Lessee's receipt of Lessor's written notice purporting to terminate this Lease, or (ii) 
the day prior to the date upon which such option expires. If Lessee duly exercises such option during such period and provides Lessor with funds (or 

adequate assurance thereof) to cover any shortage in insurance proceeds, Lessor shall, at Lessor's commercially reasonable expense, repair such 
damage as soon as reasonably possible and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect. If Lessee fails to exercise such option and provide such 

funds or assurance during such period, then this Lease shall terminate on the date specified in the termination notice and Lessee's option shall be 
extinguished. 

9.6 Abatement of Rent; Lessee's Remedies. 
(a) Abatement. In the nt of Pr · es Partial D -14emllS€>& Tetail-61%tru<31:ion or a Hazardous Substance Condition for 

which Lessee is not responsible under this Lease, the ent p able by ssee f r the period requir d for the repair, remediation or restoration of such 

damage shall be abated in proportion to th degree to hich L ssee's us of th Premises is imp ired, but not to exceed the proceeds received from 
the Rental Value insurance. All other obli ations of e see h reund r sh II be performed by Les ee, and Lessor shall have no liability for any such 
damage, destruction, remediation, repair or restoratio xce as pro11 ded H rein1-----

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross
(b) Remedies. If Lessor is obligated to repair or restore the Premises and does not commence, in a substantial and meaningful 

way, such repair or restoration within 90 days after such obligation shall accrue, Lessee may, at any time prior to the commencement of such repair or 
restoration, give written notice to Lessor and to any Lenders of which Lessee has actual notice, of Lessee's election to terminate this Lease on a date 
not less than 60 days following the giving of such notice. If Lessee gives such notice and such repair or restoration is not commenced within 30 days 
thereafter, this Lease shall terminate as of e date sp · ied in said not"ce. If t · r · · commenced within such 30 days, this Lease 
shall continue in full force and effect. "Co me e" s all m n either t e unc nditional authoriza ion of the preparation of the required plans, or the 
beginning of the actual work on the Prem is s, whic ve first oc urs. 

9.7 Termination; Advanc Paymen . Upon termin tio of th s Lease pursuant o Paragraph 6.2(g) or Paragraph 9, an equitable 
adjustment shall be made concerning adva ce Base e tan any at er ad ance•HJ<l<¥W-JU:,.U=made b Lessee to Lessor. Lessor shall, in addition, return 
to Lessee so much of Lessee's Security De osit as h s at been, or ·s not t n r quired to be, used by Lessor. 
10. Real Property Taxes. 

10.1 Definition. As used h rein, t ter " 
ordinary or extraordinary, or rental levy or t er tha inhe · an e, personal in ome or estate tax s); improvement bond; and/or license fee imposed 
upon or levied against any legal or equitable interest of Lessor in the Premises or the Project, Lessor's right to other income therefrom, and/or Lessor's 
business of leasing, by any authority having the direct or indirect power to tax and where the funds are generated with.reference to the Building address 
and where the proceeds so generated are to be applied by the city, county or other local taxing authority of a jurisdiction within which the Premises are 
located. Real Property Taxes shall also include any tax, fee, levy, assessment or charge, or any increase therein: (i) imposed by reason of events 
occurring during the term of this Lease, including but not limited to, a change in the ownership of the Premises, and (ii) levied or assessed on 
machinery or equipment provided by Lessor to Lessee pursuant to this Lease. 

10.2 
(a) Payment of Taxes. Lessor shall pay the Real Property Taxes applicable to the Premises provided, however, that Lessee shall 

pay to Lessor the amount, if any, by which Real Property Taxes applicable to the Premises increase over the fiscal tax year during which the 
Commencement Date Occurs ("Tax Increase"). Payment of any such Tax Increase shall be made by Lessee to Lessor within 30 days after receipt of 
Lessor's written statement setting forth the amount due and computation thereof. If any such taxes shall cover any period of time prior to or after the 
expiration or termination of this Lease, Lessee's share of such taxes shall be prorated to cover only that portion of the tax bill applicable to the period 
that this Lease is in effect. In the event Lessee incurs a late charge on any Rent payment, Lessor may estimate the current Real Property Taxes, and 
require that the Tax Increase be paid in advance to Lessor by Lessee monthly in advance with the payment of the Base Rent. Such monthly payment 
shall be an amount equal to the amount of the estimated installment of the Tax Increase divided by the number of months remaining before the month 
in which said installment becomes delinquent. When the actual amount of the applicable Tax Increase is known, the amount of such equal monthly 
advance payments shall be adjusted as required to provide the funds needed to pay the applicable Tax Increase. If the amount collected by Lessor is 
insufficient to pay the Tax Increase when due, Lessee shall pay Lessor, upon demand, such additional sums as are necessary to pay such obligations. 
Advance payments may be intermingled with other moneys of Lessor and shall not bear interest. In the event of a Breach by Lessee in the 
performance of its obligations under this Lease, then any such advance payments may be treated by Lessor as an additional Security Deposit. 

(b) Additional Improvements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Paragraph 10.2, Lessee shall pay to Lessor upon 
demand therefor the entirety of any increase in Real Property Taxes assessed by reason of Alterations or Utility Installations placed upon the Premises 
by Lessee or at Lessee's request or by rea of any a tions or impr vement · y Lessor subsequent to the execution of this 
Lease by the Parties. 

10.3 Joint Assessment. I the Pre is s are ot sep ra ely as essed, Lessee's I ability shall be an equitable proportion of the Tax 
Increase for all of the land and improvemen s include ithin th tax p reel asse sed, such proporti n to be conclusively determined by Lessor from the 
respective valuations assigned in the asses or's work s eel r such ther for · ay be r asonably available. 

10.4 Personal Property Ta es. Les e shall pay, rior to eli quency, all taxes ssessed against and levied upon Lessee Owned 
Alterations, Utility Installations, Trade Fixt res, fur ·shi g equip ent and II ersonal property f Lessee. When possible, Lessee shall cause its 
Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Inst llation , Tra e · tures furnishin , quipment and all other personal property to be assessed and billed 
separately from the real property of Lessor. ny of L see's ai property s al be assessed with Lessor's real property, Lessee shall pay Lessor the 
taxes attributable to Lessee's property within 10 days after receipt of a written statement setting forth the taxes applicable to Lessee's property. 
11. Utilities and Services. Lessee shall pay for all water, gas, heat, light, power, telephone, trash disposal and other utilities and services 
supplied to the Premises, together with any taxes thereon. If any such services are not separately metered or billed to Lessee, Lessee shall pay a 
reasonable proportion, to be determined by Lessor, of all charges jointly metered or billed. There shall be no abatement of rent and Lessor shall not be 
liable in any respect whatsoever for the inadequacy, stoppage, interruption or discontinuance of any utility or service due to riot, strike, labor dispute, 
breakdown, accident, repair or other cause beyond Lessor's reasonable control or in cooperation with governmental request or directions. 
12. Assignment and Subletting. 

12.1 Lessor's Consent Required. 
(a) Lessee shall not voluntarily or by operation of law assign, transfer, mortgage or encumber (collectively, "assign or 

assignment") or sublet all or any part of Lessee's interest in this Lease or in the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent. 
(b) Unless Lessee is a corporation and its stock is publicly traded on a national stock exchange, a change in the control of Lessee 

shall constitute an assignment requiring consent. The transfer, on a cumulative basis, of 25% or more of the voting control of Lessee shall constitute a 
change in control for this purpose. 

(c) The involvement of Lessee or its assets in any transaction, or series of transactions (by way of merger, sale, acquisition, 
financing, transfer, leveraged buy-out or otherwise), whether or not a formal assignment or hypothecation of this Lease or Lessee's assets occurs, 
which results or will result in a reduction of the Net Worth of Lessee by an amount greater than 25% of such Net Worth as it was represented at the 
time of the execution of this Lease or at the time of the most recent assignment to which Lessor has consented, or as it exists immediately prior to said 
transaction or transactions constituting such reduction, whichever was or is greater, shall be considered an assignment of this Lease to which Lessor 
may withhold its consent. "Net Worth of Lessee" shall mean the net worth of Lessee (excluding any guarantors) established under generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

(d) An assignment or subletting without consent shall, at Lessor's option, be a Default curable after notice per Paragraph 13.1 (c), or 
a noncurable Breach without the necessity of any notice and grace period. If Lessor elects to treat such unapproved assignment or subletting as a 
noncurable Breach, Lessor may either: (i) t · ate this e, or (ii) up n 30 da · oHee;----ifl the monthly Base Rent to 110% of the Base 
Rent then in effect. Further, in the event o such rea h and ental ad· tment, (i) the purchase pr ce of any option to purchase the Premises held by 
Lessee shall be subject to similar adjustm nt to 1 % of the rice p vI usly i effect, and (ii) al fixed and non-fixed rental adjustments scheduled 
during the remainder of the Lease term sha I be incre s d to 11 % of e s hedu ed adjusted rent. 

(e) Lessee's remedy fo any brea h of P agraph 12.1 Less-H'-8001t--ae limited to compensatory damages and/or injunctive relief. 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

(f) Lessor may reasonably withhold consent to a proposed assignment or subletting if Lessee is in Default at the time consent is 
requested. 

(g) Notwithstanding the foregoing, allowing a de minimis portion of the Premises, ie. 20 square feet or less, to be used by a third 
party vendor in connection with the installation of a vending machine or payphone shall not constitute a subletting. 

12.2 Terms and Condition plicable Assignment nd Su'+'-"'1,1..U. -'-11----

(a) Regardless of Less r's sent no signment r suble ting shall: (i) be ffective without the express written assumption by 
such assignee or sublessee of the obligati ns of 12 ss e und this L a e, (ii) elease Lessee of ny obligations hereunder, or (iii) alter the primary 

liability of Lessee for the payment of Rent o for the p rf rmanc of an ot r obli ations to be perfo med by Lessee. 
(b) Lessor may accep Rent or rfor nee of Less e's · · from any person other than Lessee pending approval or 

disapproval of an assignment. Neither a elay in th proval or sappr Yal f such assignmen nor the acceptance of Rent or performance shall 
constitute a waiver or estoppel of Lessor's r ght to ex res its reme es or ss e's Default or Brea h. 

(c) Lessor's consent to any as ·gn ent r subl tting shall o constitute a cons nt to any subsequent assignment or subletting. 
(d) In the event of any I or B each L ssee, Less r ay proceed direc ly against Lessee, any Guarantors or anyone else 

responsible for the performance of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, including any assignee or sublessee, without first exhausting Lessor's 

remedies against any other person or entity responsible therefor to Lessor, or any security held by Lessor. 
(e) Each request for consent to an assignment or subletting shall be in writing, accompanied by information relevant to Lessor's 

determination as to the financial and operational responsibility and appropriateness of the proposed assignee or sublessee, including but not limited to 

the intended use and/or required modification of the Premises, if any, together with a fee of $500 as consideration for Lessor's considering and 
processing said request. Lessee agrees to provide Lessor with such other or additional information and/or documentation as may be reasonably 
requested. (See also Paragraph 36) 

(f) Any assignee of, or sublessee under, this Lease shall, by reason of accepting such assignment, entering into such sublease, or 
entering into possession of the Premises or any portion thereof, be deemed to have assumed and agreed to conform and comply with each and every 

term, covenant, condition and obligation herein to be observed or performed by Lessee during the term of said assignment or sublease, other than such 
obligations as are contrary to or inconsistent with provisions of an assignment or sublease to which Lessor has specifically consented to in writing. 

(g) Lessor's consent to any assignment or subletting shall not transfer to the assignee or sublessee any Option granted to the 

original Lessee by this Lease unless such transfer is specifically consented to by Lessor in writing. (See Paragraph 39.2) 
12.3 Additional Terms and Conditions Applicable to Subletting. The following terms and conditions shall apply to any subletting by 

Lessee of all or any part of the Premises and shall be deemed included in all subleases under this Lease whether or not expressly incorporated therein: 
(a) Lessee hereby assigns and transfers to Lessor all of Lessee's interest in all Rent payable on any sublease, and Lessor may 

collect such Rent and apply same toward Lessee's obligations under this Lease; provided, however, that until a Breach shall occur in the performance 

of Lessee's obligations, Lessee may collect said Rent. In the event that the amount collected by Lessor exceeds Lessee's then outstanding obligations 

any such excess shall be refunded to Lessee. Lessor shall not, by reason of the foregoing or any assignment of such sublease, nor by reason of the 
collection of Rent, be deemed liable to the sublessee for any failure of Lessee to perform and comply with any of Lessee's obligations to such 

sublessee. Lessee hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs any such sublessee, upon receipt of a written notice from Lessor stating that a Breach 

exists in the performance of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, to pay to Lessor all Rent due and to become due under the sublease. Sublessee 

shall rely upon any such notice from Lessor and shall pa all Rents to Lessor without an obli ation or ri ht to inquire as to whether such Breach exists, 
notwithstanding any claim from Lessee tot e co ary. 

(b) In the event of a Br ach by ess e, Les or ma)I, a its op ion, require subles ee to attorn to Lessor, in which event Lessor shall 
undertake the obligations of the sublessor nder sue s blease rom t e ti e of I e exercise of said option to the expiration of such sublease; provided, 
however, Lessor shall not be liable for an prepaid e ts or ecurit dep sit p id b such subles ee to such sublessor or for any prior Defaults or 

Breaches of such sublessor. 
(c) Any matter requirin the cons n o the subl sor un r a sublease shall als require the consent of Lessor. 
(d) No sublessee shall urther sig or ublet II or any p rt f the Premises wi hout Lessor's prior written consent. 
(e) Lessor shall deliver a y of a y not1 e o Default or r ach by Lessee to he sublessee, who shall have the right to cure the 

Default of Lessee within the grace period, if any, specified in such notice. The sublessee shall have a right of reimbursement and offset from and 
against Lessee for any such Defaults cured by the sublessee. 
13. Default; Breach; Remedies. 

13.1 Default; Breach. A "Default" is defined as a failure by the Lessee to comply with or perform any of the terms, covenants, 

conditions or Rules and Regulations under this Lease. A "Breach" is defined as the occurrence of one or more of the following Defaults, and the 
failure of Lessee to cure such Default within any applicable grace period: 

(a) The abandonment of the Premises; or the vacating of the Premises without providing a commercially reasonable level of 
security, or where the coverage of the property insurance described in Paragraph 8.3 is jeopardized as a result thereof, or without providing reasonable 
assurances to minimize potential vandalism. 

(b) The failure of Lessee to make any payment of Rent or any Security Deposit required to be made by Lessee hereunder, whether 

to Lessor or to a third party, when due, to provide reasonable evidence of insurance or surety bond, or to fulfill any obligation under this Lease which 
endangers or threatens life or property, where such failure continues for a period of 3 business days following written notice to Lessee. THE 

ACCEPTANCE BY LESSOR OF A PARTIAL PAYMENT OF RENT OR SECURITY DEPOSIT SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF ANY OF 
LESSOR'S RIGHTS, INCLUDING LESSOR'S RIGHT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF THE PREMISES. 

(c) The failure of Lessee to allow Lessor and/or its agents access to the Premises or the commission of waste, act or acts 

constituting public or private nuisance, and/or an illegal activity on the Premises by Lessee, where such actions continue for a period of 3 business days 
following written notice to Lessee. 

(d) The failure by Lessee to provide (i) reasonable written evidence of compliance with Applicable Requirements, (ii) the service 
contracts, (iii) the rescission of an unauthorized assignment or subletting, (iv) an Estoppel Certificate or financial statements, (v) a requested 

subordination, (vi) evidence concerning any guaranty and/or Guarantor, (vii) any document requested under Paragraph 42, (viii) material safety data 

sheets (MSDS), or (ix) any other documentation or information which Lessor may reasonably require of Lessee under the terms of this Lease, where 
any such failure continues for a period of 1 0 days following written notice to Lessee. 

(e) A Default by Lessee as to the le ms, covenants, conditions or rovisions of this Lease, or of the rules adopted under Paragraph 
40 hereof, other than those described in su par aphs 13. , (b), (c) (d), ab ve, where such D fault continues for a period of 30 days after written 

notice; provided, however, that if the natur of Les e's Defaul is sue tli t mor than 30 days are reasonably required for its cure, then it shall not be 
deemed to be a Breach if Lessee commen es such r within aid 3 da perio and thereafter dili ently prosecutes such cure to completion. 

(f) The occurrence of ny of the f llowi event : (i) the akin of any gen ral arrangement or assignment for the benefit of 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

creditors; (ii) becoming a "debtor" as defined in 11 U.S.C. §101 or any successor statute thereto (unless, in the case of a petition filed against Lessee, 
the same is dismissed within 60 days); (iii) the appointment of a trustee or receiver to take possession of substantially all of Lessee's assets located at 
the Premises or of Lessee's interest in this Lease, where possession is not restored to Lessee within 30 days; or (iv) the attachment, execution or other 

judicial seizure of substantially all of Lessee's assets located at the Premises or of Lessee's interest in this Lease, where such seizure is not discharged 

within 30 days; provided, however, in the e nt that an:i; ovision of this subpar'P.,¥Dt"-'--\"'f--is .liUUW",4'...w.--"ny applicable law, such provision shall be of 
no force or effect, and not affect the validity of Iii emai ing ovIsIons. 

(g) The discovery that ny finan ial tatem t of Le s e or o any Guarantor giv n to Lessor was materially false. 
(h) If the performance f Lessee' obligatio s und r th Lea e is guaranteed: (i) the death of a Guarantor, (ii) the termination of a 

Guarantor's liability with respect to this Le se other t n in corda ce wi h the~~~~uch gu ranty, (iii) a Guarantor's becoming insolvent or the 
subject of a bankruptcy filing, (iv) a Guara tor's refu I onor the guaran y, o (v) a Guarantor's reach of its guaranty obligation on an anticipatory 

basis, and Lessee's failure, within 60 days following ri I notice any su h e ent, to provide wr tten alternative assurance or security, which, when 
coupled with the then existing resources of Lesse , eq als r exc ds the c ined financial reso rces of Lessee and the Guarantors that existed at 

the lime of execution of this Lease. 
13.2 Remedies. If Lessee fails to perform any of its affirmative duties or obligations, within 10 days after written notice (or in case of an 

emergency, without notice), Lessor may, at its option, perform such duty or obligation on Lessee's behalf, including but not limited to the obtaining of 

reasonably required bonds, insurance policies, or governmental licenses, permits or approvals. Lessee shall pay to Lessor an amount equal to 115% of 
the costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in such performance upon receipt of an invoice therefor. In the event of a Breach, Lessor may, with or 

without further notice or demand, and without limiting Lessor in the exercise of any right or remedy which Lessor may have by reason of such Breach: 
(a) Terminate Lessee's right to possession of the Premises by any lawful means, in which case this Lease shall terminate and 

Lessee shall immediately surrender possession to Lessor. In such event Lessor shall be entitled to recover from Lessee: (i) the unpaid Rent which had 
been earned at the time of termination; (ii) the worth at the lime of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent which would have been earned after 

termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that the Lessee proves could have been reasonably avoided; (iii) the worth at 
the lime of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of the term after the lime of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that 

the Lessee proves could be reasonably avoided; and (iv) any other amount necessary to compensate Lessor for all the detriment proximately caused by 

the Lessee's failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom, including but 

not limited to the cost of recovering possession of the Premises, expenses of reletting, including necessary renovation and alteration of the Premises, 
reasonable attorneys' fees, and that portion of any leasing commission paid by Lessor in connection with this Lease applicable to the unexpired term of 

this Lease. The worth at the lime of award of the amount referred to in provision (iii) of the immediately preceding sentence shall be computed by 

discounting such amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of the District within which the Premises are located at the lime of award 

plus one percent. Efforts by Lessor to mitigate damages caused by Lessee's Breach of this Lease shall not waive Lessor's right to recover damages 
under Paragraph 12. If termination of this Lease is obtained through the provisional remedy of unlawful detainer, Lessor shall have the right to recover 

in such proceeding any unpaid Rent and damages as are recoverable therein, or Lessor may reserve the right to recover all or any part thereof in a 
separate suit. If a notice and grace period required under Paragraph 13.1 was not previously given, a notice to pay rent or quit, or to perform or quit 

given to Lessee under the unlawful detainer statute shall also constitute the notice required by Paragraph 13.1. In such case, the applicable grace 

period required by Paragraph 13.1 and the unlawful detainer statute shall run concurrently, and the failure of Lessee to cure the Default within the 

greater of the two such grace periods shall constitute b h an unlawful detainer and a Breach of this Lease entitling Lessor to the remedies provided for 

in this Lease and/or by said statute. 
(b) Continue the Leas and L se 's righ to pos e sion a d recover the Re I as it becomes due, in which event Lessee may 

sublet or assign, subject only to reasona le limitatI n . Acts of m nte ance, efforts to relet, a d/or the appointment of a receiver to protect the 

Lessor's interests, shall not constitute a !er ination o I e Le ee's ri I to ass ssion. 
(c) Pursue any other r medy no o reafter a ailable und r the laws or judici I decisions of the state wherein the Premises are 

located. The expiration or termination oft is Lease n / the ter ina I0n Le see's right to pos ession shall not relieve Lessee from liability under 

any indemnity provisions of this Lease as I matter oc urri or ac ruing dur g he term hereof or y reason of Lessee's occupancy of the Premises. 

13.3 Inducement Recaptur . y agre men for ree or abal d rent or other char es, or for the giving or paying by Lessor to or for 
Lessee of any cash or other bonus, inducement or consideration for Lessee's entering into this Lease, all of which concessions are hereinafter referred 

to as "Inducement Provisions," shall be deemed conditioned upon Lessee's full and faithful performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions 

of this Lease. Upon Breach of this Lease by Lessee, any such Inducement Provision shall automatically be deemed deleted from this Lease and of no 

further force or effect, and any rent, other charge, bonus, inducement or consideration theretofore abated, given or paid by Lessor under such an 
inducement Provision shall be immediately due and payable by Lessee to Lessor, notwithstanding any subsequent cure of said Breach by Lessee. The 

acceptance by Lessor of rent or the cure of the Breach which initiated the operation of this paragraph shall not be deemed a waiver by Lessor of the 

provisions of this paragraph unless specifically so stated in writing by Lessor at the time of such acceptance. 
13.4 Late Charges. Lessee hereby acknowledges that late payment by Lessee of Rent will cause Lessor to incur costs not 

contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which will be extremely difficult to ascertain. Such costs include, but are not limited to, processing and 
accounting charges, and late charges which may be imposed upon Lessor by any Lender. Accordingly, if any Rent shall not be received by Lessor 

within 5 days after such amount shall be due, then, without any requirement for notice to Lessee, Lessee shall immediately pay to Lessor a one-time 

late charge equal to 10% of each such overdue amount or $100, whichever is greater. The Parties hereby agree that such late charge represents a fair 

and reasonable estimate of the costs Lessor will incur by reason of such late payment. Acceptance of such late charge by Lessor shall in no event 
constitute a waiver of Lessee's Default or Breach with respect to such overdue amount, nor prevent the exercise of any of the other rights and remedies 

granted hereunder. In the event that a late charge is payable hereunder, whether or not collected, for 3 consecutive installments of Base Rent, then 
notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, Base Rent shall, at Lessor's option, become due and payable quarterly in advance. 

13.5 Interest. Any monetary payment due Lessor hereunder, other than late charges, not received by Lessor, when due as to 
scheduled payments (such as Base Rent) or within 30 days following the date on which it was due for non-scheduled payment, shall bear interest from 

the date when due, as to scheduled payments, or the 31st day after it was due as to non-scheduled payments. The interest ("Interest") charged shall 

be computed at the rate of 10% per annum but shall not exceed the maximum rate allowed by law. Interest is payable in addition to the potential late 

charge provided for in Paragraph 13.4. 
13.6 Breach by Lessor. 

(a) Notice of Breach. ssor shall t be deemed i breac 1--lJ.lC-I.W""-'--""''=-'-"-=,;,....i-"""Sor fails within a reasonable time to perform 
an obligation required to be performed by Less Fo Parag aph, a reasonable time shall in no event be less than 30 days after 
receipt by Lessor, and any Lender whose ame an ad ress s all hav o en fu nished Lessee in riling for such purpose, of written notice specifying 

wherein such obligation of Lessor has not een perf r ed; pro ided, ow ver, I at if the nature of Lessor's obligation is such that more than 30 days 

are reasonably required for its performanc , then Les r sh not be In bre ch iH"'"'-'-'.LLLL""'-'-,ce is commenced within such 30 day period and thereafter 

INITIALS 

©2001 - AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross
diligently pursued to completion. 

(b) Performance by Lessee on Behalf of Lessor. In the event that neither Lessor nor Lender cures said breach within 30 days 
after receipt of said notice, or if having commenced said cure they do not diligently pursue ii to completion, then Lessee may elect to cure said breach 
at Lessee's expense and offset from Rent the actual and reasonable cost to perform such cure, provided however, that such offset shall not exceed an 
amount equal to the greater of one month' Base Ren r the Security Deposit, · L ' · to seek reimbursement from Lessor for any 
such expense in excess of such offset. Les ee s II do ume the cost said c re and supply said documentation to Lessor. 
14. Condemnation. If the Premises or any p rti n there fare I e unde the power of emi ent domain or sold under the threat of the exercise 
of said power (collectively "Condemnatio "), this L a e shal termi ate s to he part taken as f the date the condemning authority takes title or 
possession, whichever first occurs. If more than 10% o the ilding, or m e th O hat porti n of the Premises not occupied by any building, is 
taken by Condemnation, Lessee may, at L ssee's op o o be exer sed in riti g within 10 days a er Lessor shall have given Lessee written notice of 
such taking (or in the absence of such noli , within O a after th conde nin authority shall ha e taken possession) terminate this Lease as of the 
date the condemning authority takes such posse ion. If essee does not er inate this Lease n accordance with the foregoing, this Lease shall 
remain in full force and effect as to the por · the P emise re aining, exc that the Base Re I shall be reduced in proportion to the reduction in 
utility of the Premises caused by such Condemnation. Condemnation awards and/or payments shall be the property of Lessor, whether such award 
shall be made as compensation for diminution in value of the leasehold, the value of the part taken, or for severance damages; provided, however, that 
Lessee shall be entitled to any compensation paid by the condemnor for Lessee's relocation expenses, loss of business goodwill and/or Trade Fixtures, 
without regard to whether or not this Lease is terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph. All Alterations and Utility Installations made to 
the Premises by Lessee, for purposes of Condemnation only, shall be considered the property of the Lessee and Lessee shall be entitled to any and all 
compensation which is payable therefor. In the event that this Lease is not terminated by reason of the Condemnation, Lessor shall repair any damage 
to the Premises caused by such Condemnation. 
15. Brokerage Fees. 

15.1 Additional Commission. If a separate brokerage fee agreement is attached then--iA-ooG+tion to the payments owed pursuant to 
Paragraph 1.9 above, and unless Lessor and the Brokers otherwise agree in w~essor agrees that: (a) if Lessee exercises any Option, (b) if 
Lessee or anyone affiliated with Lessee acquires any rights to the Premises or other premises owned-by Lessor and located within the same Project, if 
any, within which the Premises is located, (c) if Lessee remains in possession of the Premises, with the consent of Lessor, after the expiration of this 
Lease, or (d) if Base Rent is increased, whether by agreement or operation of an escalation clause herein, then, Lessor shall pay Brol<ers a fee in 
accordance with the schedule-attached to such brokerage fee agreement. 

15.2 Assumption of Obligations. Any buyer or transferee of Lessor's interest in this Lease shall be deemed to have assumed Lessor's 
obligation hereunder. Brokers shall be third party-beAe-ficiaries of the provisions of Paragraphs 1.9, 15, 22 and 31. If Lessor fails to pay to Broi<ers any 
amounts due as and for broi<erage fees pertaining to this Lease when due, then such amounts shall accrue Interest. In addition, if Lessor fails to pay 
any amounts to Lessee's Brol<er when due, Lessee's Broker may send written notice to Lessor and Lessee of such failure and if Lessor fails to pay 
such amounts within 10 days after said notice, Lessee shall pay-said monies to its BrokeF--Ond offset such amounts against Rent. In addition, Lessee's 
Broker shall be deemed lo be a third party beneficiary of any commission agreement entered into by and/or between Lessor and Lessor's Broker fer the 
limited purpose of collecting any brokerage fee owed. 

15.3 Representations and Indemnities of Broker Relationships. Lessee and Lessor each represent and warrant to the other that it 
has had no dealings with any person, firm, ker or fin other than th Broker · c · h this Lease, and that no one other than said 
named Brokers is entitled to any commission or · der' fee · connec n here ith. Lessee and essor do each hereby agree to indemnify, protect, 
defend and hold the other harmless from a d again t Ii bilily f comp n ation r charges which m y be claimed by any such unnamed broker, finder 
or other similar party by reason of any deal ngs or ac ·o s of th inde nify1 g Pa y, including any c sts, expenses, attorneys' fees reasonably incurred 
with respect thereto. 
16. Estoppel Certificates. 

(a) Each Party (as "R spondin a ") shall ithin 10 da s after written not ce from the other Party (the "Requesting Party") 
execute, acknowledge and deliver to the R ques · g P rty state en! in wri ·n in form similar to he then most current "Estoppel Certificate" form 
published by the AIR Commercial Real E Associ lion, us such additi n I information, con irmation and/or statements as may be reasonably 
requested by the Requesting Party. 

(b) If the Responding Party shall fail lo execute or deliver the Estoppel Certificate within such 10 day period, the Requesting Party 
may execute an Estoppel Certificate stating that: (i) the Lease is in full force and effect without modification except as may be represented by the 
Requesting Party, (ii) there are no uncured defaults in the Requesting Party's performance, and (iii) if Lessor is the Requesting Party, not more than one 
month's rent has been paid in advance. Prospective purchasers and encumbrancers may rely upon the Requesting Party's Estoppel Certificate, and the 
Responding Party shall be estopped from denying the truth of the facts contained in said Certificate. 

(c) If Lessor desires to finance, refinance, or sell the Premises, or any part thereof, Lessee and all Guarantors shall within 10 days 
after written notice from Lessor deliver to any potential lender or purchaser designated by Lessor such financial statements as may be reasonably 
required by such lender or purchaser, including but not limited to Lessee's financial statements for the past 3 years. All such financial statements shall 
be received by Lessor and such lender or purchaser in confidence and shall be used only for the purposes herein set forth. 
17. Definition of Lessor. The term "Lessor" as used herein shall mean the owner or owners at the lime in question of the fee title to the 
Premises, or, if this is a sublease, of the Lessee's interest in the prior lease. In the event of a transfer of Lessor's title or interest in the Premises or this 
Lease, Lessor shall deliver to the transferee or assignee (in cash or by credit) any unused Security Deposit held by Lessor. Upon such transfer or 
assignment and delivery of the Security Deposit, as aforesaid, the prior Lessor shall be relieved of all liability with respect to the obligations and/or 
covenants under this Lease thereafter to be performed by the Lessor. Subject to the foregoing, the obligations and/or covenants in this Lease to be 
performed by the Lessor shall be binding only upon the Lessor as hereinabove defined. 
18. Severability. The invalidity of any provision of this Lease, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall in no way affect the 
validity of any other provision hereof. 
19. Days. Unless otherwise specifically indicated to the contrary, the word "days" as used in this Lease shall mean and refer to calendar days. 
20. Limitation on Liability. The obligations of Lessor under this Lease shall not constitute personal obligations of Lessor or its partners, 
members, directors, officers or shareholders, and Lessee shall look to the Premises, and to no other assets of Lessor, for the satisfaction of any liability 
of Lessor with respect lo this Lease, and shall not seek recourse against Lessor's partners, members, directors, officers or shareholders, or any of their 
personal assets for such satisfaction. 
21. Time of Essence. Time is of the esse e wit rforma ce of all obligatio s to be performed or observed by the Parties under 
this Lease. 
22. No Prior or Other Agreements; Broker is laime . This Lea e co tains all agreeme ts between the Parties with respect to any matter 
mentioned herein, and no other prior or c ntempora e us reeme t or nder · all be ffective. Lessor and Lessee each represents and 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/1 OE 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

warrants to the Brokers that it has made, and is relying solely upon, its own investigation as to the nature, quality, character and financial responsibility 

of the other Party to this Lease and as to the use, nature, quality and character of the Premises. Brokers have no responsibility with respect thereto or 

with respect to any default or breach hereof by either Party. 
23. Notices. 

23.1 Notice Requirements. II notices µi.:;._u;=t;<...U .i:UJIJU1,;i:UJJJ.w<:1W shall be in writing and may be delivered in 

person (by hand or by courier) or may be ent r, ce 'fied or r istered mail or U.S. Posta Service Express Mail, with postage prepaid, or by 

facsimile transmission, and shall be deeme suffici tly given i served in man er specified in thi Paragraph 23. The addresses noted adjacent to a 

Party's signature on this Lease shall be tha Party's ddress for, delive y o maili g of notices. Eith r Party may by written notice to the other specify a 

different address for notice, except that up n Lessee' t kin osses ,on o the · e Prem ses shall constitute Lessee's address for notice. A 

copy of all notices to Lessor shall be con urrently tr n 1tted to s h part or arties at such ad resses as Lessor may from lime to time hereafter 

designate in writing. 
23.2 Date of Notice. Any olice nt y re istere or certifi d ail, return receipt requested, shall be deemed given on the date of 

delivery shown on the receipt card, or if no · ery dat is sH wn the postm rk thereon. If sent b regular mail the notice shall be deemed given 72 

hours after the same is addressed as required herein and mailed with postage prepaid. Notices delivered by United States Express Mail or overnight 

courier that guarantees next day delivery shall be deemed given 24 hours after delivery of the same to the Postal Service or courier. Notices 

transmitted by facsimile transmission or similar means shall be deemed delivered upon telephone confirmation of receipt (confirmation report from fax 

machine is sufficient), provided a copy is also delivered via delivery or mail. If notice is received on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, ii shall be 

deemed received on the next business day. 
24. Waivers. 

(a) No waiver by Lessor of the Default or Breach of any term, covenant or condition hereof by Lessee, shall be deemed a 

waiver of any other term, covenant or condition hereof, or of any subsequent Default or Breach by Lessee of the same or of any other term, covenant or 

condition hereof. Lessor's consent to, or approval of, any act shall not be deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of Lessor's consent to, or 

approval of, any subsequent or similar act by Lessee, or be construed as the basis of an estoppel to enforce the provision or provisions of this Lease 

requiring such consent. 
(b) The acceptance of Rent by Lessor shall not be a waiver of any Default or Breach by Lessee. Any payment by Lessee 

may be accepted by Lessor on account of moneys or damages due Lessor, notwithstanding any qualifying statements or conditions made by Lessee in 

connection therewith, which such statements and/or conditions shall be of no force or effect whatsoever unless specifically agreed to in writing by 

Lessor at or-before the time of deposit of such payment. 
(c) THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE SHALL GOVERN WITH REGARD TO ALL MATTERS 

RELATED THERETO AND HEREBY WAIVE THE PROVISIONS OF ANY PRESENT OR FUTURE STATUTE TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH 

STATUTE IS INCONSISTENT WITH THIS LEASE. 

25. Disclosures Regarding The Nature of a Real Estate Agency Relationship. 
(a) When entering into a discussion with a real estate agent regarding a real estate transaction, a Lessor or Lessee should 

from the outset understand what type of agency relationship or representation it has with the agent or agents in the transaction. Lessor and Lessee 

acknowledge being advised by the Brokers in this trans tion, as follows: 
(i) Le sor ent. A sor's ag t under a listing agreeme t with the Lessor acts as the agent for the Lessor 

only. A Lessor's agent or subagent has t e follow· g ffirmati e oblig ti ns: T the Lessor: A fi uciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and 

loyalty in dealings with the Lessor. To th Lessee n the Le sor: . D'ligent exercise of reaso able skills and care in performance of the agent's 

duties. b. A duty of honest and fair dealing and good ai h. c duty o dis lose II facts known to t e agent materially affecting the value or desirability 

of the property that are not known to, or wi hin the dil g attention nd ob erva ion of, the Parties. An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party 

any confidential information obtained from t e other a y hich doe no Inv Ive he affirmative duti s set forth above. 
(ii) Le see's ent A agent an agree to ct as agent for th Lessee only. In these situations, the agent is not 

the Lessor's agent, even if by agreement t e nt ma receI e c mpensatio f r services rendere , either in full or in part from the Lessor. An agent 

acting only for a Lessee has the following affirmative obligations. To the Lessee: A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and loyalty in 

dealings with the Lessee. To the Lessee and the Lessor: a. Diligent exercise of reasonable skills and care in performance of the agent's duties. b. A 

duty of honest and fair dealing and good faith. c. A duty to disclose all facts known to the agent materially affecting the value or desirability of the 

property that are not known to, or within the diligent attention and observation of, the Parties. An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party any 

confidential information obtained from the other Party which does not involve the affirmative duties set forth above. 
(iii) Agent Representing Both Lessor and Lessee. A real estate agent, either acting directly or through one or more 

associate licenses, can legally be the agent of both the Lessor and the Lessee in a transaction, but only with the knowledge and consent of both the 

Lessor and the Lessee. In a dual agency situation, the agent has the following affirmative obligations to both the Lessor and the Lessee: a. A fiduciary 

duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty and loyalty in the dealings with either Lessor or the Lessee. b. Other duties to the Lessor and the Lessee as 

stated above in subparagraphs (i) or (ii). In representing both Lessor and Lessee, the agent may not without the express permission of the respective 

Party, disclose to the other Party that the Lessor will accept rent in an amount less than that indicated in the listing or that the Lessee is willing to pay a 

higher rent than that offered. The above duties of the agent in a real estate transaction do not relieve a Lessor or Lessee from the responsibility to 

protect their own interests. Lessor and Lessee should carefully read all agreements to assure that they adequately express their understanding of the 

transaction. A real estate agent is a person qualified to advise about real estate. If legal or tax advice is desired, consult a competent professional. 
(b) Brokers have no responsibility with respect to any default or breach hereof by either Party. The Parties agree that no 

lawsuit or other legal proceeding involving any breach of duty, error or omission relating to this Lease may be brought against Broker more than one 

year after the Start Date and that the liability (including court costs and attorneys' fees), of any Broker with respect to any such lawsuit and/or legal 

proceeding shall not exceed the fee received by such Broker pursuant to this Lease; provided, however, that the foregoing limitation on each Broker's 

liability shall not be applicable to any gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Broker. 
(c) Lessor and Lessee agree to identify to Brokers as "Confidential" any communication or information given Brokers that is 

considered by such Party to be confidential. 
26. No Right To Holdover. Lessee has no right to retain possession of the Premises or any part thereof beyond the expiration or termination of 

this Lease. In the event that Lessee holds over, then the Base Rent shall be increased to 150% of the Base Rent applicable immediately preceding the 

expiration or termination. Nothing containe he · shal be nstrued a consen by Lessor to any aiding over by Lessee. 

27. Cumulative Remedies. No re edy or lee! on her under h II be d emed exclusive b t shall, wherever possible, be cumulative with all 

other remedies at law or in equity. 
28. Covenants and Conditions; C All rovi ions of this Lease to be observed or performed by Lessee are both 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

covenants and conditions. In construing this Lease, all headings and titles are for the convenience of the Parties only and shall not be considered a 
part of this Lease. Whenever required by the context, the singular shall include the plural and vice versa. This Lease shall not be construed as if 
prepared by one of the Parties, but rather according to its fair meaning as a whole, as if both Parties had prepared it. 

29. Binding Effect; Choice of Law. his Lease all be binding upon th<;LJ::.al.J=>r-Ll'""'-_µ,:;"-"1'-wa,uzpresentatives, successors and assigns and 
be governed by the laws of the State in hicli e Pr mise are loca d. Any litigation between the Parties hereto concerning this Lease shall be 
initiated in the county in which the Premise are loc ted 
30. Subordination; Attornment; No -Disturb n e. 

30.1 Subordination. This ease and n OP, · n gran ed h eby =~~=bject an subordinate to any ground lease, mortgage, deed 

of trust, or other hypothecation or security evice (col vely, "Sec it De ice" , now or hereafter placed upon the Premises, to any and all advances 
made on the security thereof, and to all ren wals, m di ic ions, an extensi ns hereof. Lessee a rees that the holders of any such Security Devices 

(in this Lease together referred to as "Len er") s all h ve o liab· ity or obli ati n to perform any f the obligations of Lessor under this Lease. Any 
Lender may elect to have this Lease and/ Optio gran d ereby supe ior to the lien of its ecurity Device by giving written notice thereof to 
Lessee, whereupon this Lease and such Options shall be deemed prior to such Security Device, notwithstanding the relative dates of the 
documentation or recordation thereof. 

30.2 Attornment. In the event that Lessor transfers title to the Premises, or the Premises are acquired by another upon the foreclosure 
or termination of a Security Devise to which this Lease is subordinated (i) Lessee shall, subject to the non-disturbance provisions of Paragraph 30.3, 
attorn to such new owner, and upon request, enter into a new lease, containing all of the terms and provisions of this Lease, with such new owner for 
the remainder of the term hereof, or, at the election of the new owner, this Lease will automatically become a new lease between Lessee and such new 
owner, and (ii) Lessor shall thereafter be relieved of any further obligations hereunder and such new owner shall assume all of Lessor's obligations, 
except that such new owner shall not: (a) be liable for any act or omission of any prior lessor or with respect to events occurring prior to acquisition of 
ownership; (b) be subject to any offsets or defenses which Lessee might have against any prior lessor, (c) be bound by prepayment of more than one 
month's rent, or (d) be liable for the return of any security deposit paid to any prior lessor which was not paid or credited to such new owner. 

30.3 Non-Disturbance. With respect to Security Devices entered into by Lessor after the execution of this Lease, Lessee's 

subordination of this Lease shall be subject to receiving a commercially reasonable non-disturbance agreement (a "Non-Disturbance Agreement") 
from the Lender which Non-Disturbance Agreement provides that Lessee's possession of the Premises, and this Lease, including any options to extend 
the term hereof, will not be disturbed so long as Lessee is not in Breach hereof and attorns to the record owner of the Premises. Further, within 60 
days after the execution of this Lease, Lessor shall, if requested by Lessee, use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a Non-Disturbance 
Agreement from the holder of any pre-existing Security Device which is secured by the Premises. In the event that Lessor is unable to provide the 
Non-Disturbance Agreement within said 60 days, then Lessee may, at Lessee's option, directly contact Lender and attempt to negotiate for the 
execution and delivery of a Non-Disturbance Agreement. 

30.4 Self-Executing. The agreements contained in this Paragraph 30 shall be effective without the execution of any further documents; 
provided, however, that, upon written request from Lessor or a Lender in connection with a sale, financing or refinancing of the Premises, Lessee and 
Lessor shall execute such further writings as may be reasonably required to separately document any subordination, attornment and/or 
Non-Disturbance Agreement provided for herein. 
31. Attorneys' Fees. If any Party or ker bring action or pr ceedin,1-tt+>fHtv-tt-~ e--f're!'lil-ises-w 
to declare rights hereunder, the Prevailing arty her after efined) i ny sue 
attorneys' fees. Such fees may be award d in the a e suit r recov r in a eparate suit, whe her or not such action or proceeding is pursued to 

decision or judgment. The term, "Prevaili g Party' s all incl de, w· hou limit tion, a Party or Br ker who substantially obtains or defeats the relief 
sought, as the case may be, whether by c mpromise ettl ent, ju gmen or t R€1enment b the other Party or Broker of its claim or defense. 
The attorneys' fees award shall not be co puted in c dance wit an co rt f e schedule, buts all be such as to fully reimburse all attorneys' fees 
reasonably incurred. In addition, Lessor s all be e itl d attorn s' fees, os s and expenses i curred in the preparation and service of notices of 
Default and consultations in connection the ewith het er o ot a egal actio is subsequently com enced in connection with such Default or resulting 
Breach ($200 is a reasonable minimum per rrence or sue s rvices and c nsultation). 
32. Lessor's Access; Showing Premises; Repairs. Lessor and Lessor's agents shall have the right to enter the Premises at any time, in the 
case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times after reasonable prior notice for the purpose of showing the same to prospective purchasers, 
lenders, or tenants, and making such alterations, repairs, improvements or additions to the Premises as Lessor may deem necessary or desirable and 
the erecting, using and maintaining of utilities, services, pipes and conduits through the Premises and/or other premises as long as there is no material 
adverse effect to Lessee's use of the Premises. All such activities shall be without abatement of rent or liability to Lessee. 
33. Auctions. Lessee shall not conduct, nor permit to be conducted, any auction upon the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent. 
Lessor shall not be obligated to exercise any standard of reasonableness in determining whether to permit an auction. 
34. Signs. Lessor may place on the Premises ordinary "For Sale" signs at any time and ordinary "For Lease" signs during the last 6 months of 
the term hereof. Except for ordinary "for sublease" signs, Lessee shall not place any sign upon the Premises without Lessor's prior written consent. All 
signs must comply with all Applicable Requirements. 
35. Termination; Merger. Unless specifically stated otherwise in writing by Lessor, the voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Lessee, the 
mutual termination or cancellation hereof, or a termination hereof by Lessor for Breach by Lessee, shall automatically terminate any sublease or lesser 
estate in the Premises; provided, however, that Lessor may elect to continue any one or all existing subtenancies. Lessor's failure within 1 O days 
following any such event to elect to the contrary by written notice to the holder of any such lesser interest, shall constitute Lessor's election to have 
such event constitute the termination of such interest. 
36. Consents. Except as otherwise provided herein, wherever in this Lease the consent of a Party is required to an act by or for the other Party, 
such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Lessor's actual reasonable costs and expenses (including but not limited to architects', 
attorneys', engineers' and other consultants' fees) incurred in the consideration of, or response to, a request by Lessee for any Lessor consent, 
including but not limited to consents to an assignment, a subletting or the presence or use of a Hazardous Substance, shall be paid by Lessee upon 
receipt of an invoice and supporting documentation therefor. Lessor's consent to any act, assignment or subletting shall not constitute an 
acknowledgment that no Default or Breach by Lessee of this Lease exists, nor shall such consent be deemed a waiver of any then existing Default or 
Breach, except as may be otherwise specifically stated in writing by Lessor at the time of such consent. The failure to specify herein any particular 
condition to Lessor's consent shall not pr de the i ition by Le sor at · f ==mtt--m---such further or other conditions as are then 
reasonable with reference to the particular matte for hich nsent i eing gi en. In the event that either Party disagrees with any determination 
made by the other hereunder and reasona ly reque st e reas ns for u h dete mination, the dete mining party shall furnish its reasons in writing and 
in reasonable detail within 10 business day following s ch req est. 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross
37. Guarantor. 

37.1 Execution. The Guarantors, if any, shall each execute a guaranty in the form most recently published by the AIR Commercial Real 
Estate Association. 

37.2 Default. It shall constitute a Default of the Lessee if any Guarantor fails or refuses, upon request to provide: (a) evidence of the 
execution of the guaranty, including the a ority of t arty signing n Guar=,ow;_u_l;l aJ.l'--l{.J--IJ/J-Ui!Ji;I.Lt:: Guarantor, and in the case of a corporate 
Guarantor, a certified copy of a resolution of its oard of dI ctors au he making of sue guaranty, (b) current financial statements, (c) an 
Estoppel Certificate, or (d) written confirma I0n that e uarant is still · ffect. 
38. Quiet Possession. Subject to ayment y Lesse of th Re t an 
Lessee's part to be observed and performe under thi eas , esse shall avef'-l ..... lCl.-~=· 
hereof. 
39. Options. If Lessee is granted an Option, s 

II of the covenants, conditions and provisions on 
nd quiet enjoyment of the Premises during the term 

39.1 Definition. "Option" hall m n: a) t right to extend r r duce the term of r renew this Lease or to extend or reduce the term 
of or renew any lease that Lessee has on o roperty of Le or; (b) the right o first refusal or first offer to lease either the Premises or other property 
of Lessor; (c) the right to purchase, the right of first offer to purchase or the right of first refusal to purchase the Premises or other property of Lessor. 

39.2 Options Personal To Original Lessee. Any Option granted to Lessee in this Lease is personal to the original Lessee, and cannot 
be assigned or exercised by anyone other than said original Lessee and only while the original Lessee is in full possession of the Premises and, if 
requested by Lessor, with Lessee certifying that Lessee has no intention of thereafter assigning or subletting. 

39.3 Multiple Options. In the event that Lessee has any multiple Options to extend or renew this Lease, a later Option cannot be 
exercised unless the prior Options have been validly exercised. 

39.4 Effect of Default on Options. 
(a) Lessee shall have no right to exercise an Option: (i) during the period commencing with the giving of any notice of Default and 

continuing until said Default is cured, (ii) during the period of time any Rent is unpaid (without regard to whether notice thereof is given Lessee), (iii) 
during the time Lessee is in Breach of this Lease, or (iv) in the event that Lessee has been given 3 or more notices of separate Default, whether or not 
the Defaults are cured, during the 12 month period immediately preceding the exercise of the Option. 

(b) The period of time within which an Option may be exercised shall not be extended or enlarged by reason of Lessee's inability to 
exercise an Option because of the provisions of Paragraph 39.4(a). 

(c) An Option shall terminate and be of no further force or effect, notwithstanding Lessee's due and timely exercise of the Option, if, 
after such exercise and prior to the commencement of the extended term or completion of the purchase, (i) Lessee fails to pay Rent for a period of 30 
days after such Rent becomes due (without any necessity of Lessor to give notice thereof), or (ii) if Lessee commits a Breach of this Lease. 
40. Multiple Buildings. If the Premises are a part of a group of buildings controlled by Lessor, Lessee agrees that it will abide by and conform to 
all reasonable rules and regulations which Lessor may make from time to time for the management, safety, and care of said properties, including the 
care and cleanliness of the grounds and including the parking, loading and unloading of vehicles, and to cause its employees, suppliers, shippers, 
customers, contractors and invitees to so abide and conform. Lessee also agrees to pay its fair share of common expenses incurred in connection with 
such rules and regulations. 
41. Security Measures. Lessee hereby acknowledges that the Rent payable to Lessor hereunder does not include the cost of guard service or 
other security measures, and that Lessor s have no · ation whats ever to ,flftWtt'le-lIBm . sumes all responsibility for the protection of 
the Premises, Lessee, its agents and invite s an heir roper from th cts of hird parties. 
42. Reservations. Lessor reserves to itself e right, fr m tim t time, o grant, without t e consent or joinder of Lessee, such easements, 
rights and dedications that Lessor deems ecessary, a d to c se th rec rdati n of parcel maps nd restrictions, so long as such easements, rights, 
dedications, maps and restrictions do not unreason by i ere wi h the use i'\t--cmA--l-4"Pmises b Lessee. Lessee agrees to sign any documents 
reasonably requested by Lessor to effectua e any su sement rig ts ·cati n, map or restricti ns. 
43. Performance Under Protest. If at any r e a ·spute s all arise s o any amount or s m of money to be paid by one Party to the other 
under the provisions hereof, the Party agai st w th ob ation to pay the m ney is asserted s all have the right to make payment "under protest" 
and such payment shall not be regarded as oluntary ayme ta d there sha I urvive the right on he part of said Party to institute suit for recovery of 
such sum. If it shall be adjudged that there was no legal obligation on the part of said Party to pay such sum or any part thereof, said Party shall be 
entitled to recover such sum or so much thereof as it was not legally required to pay. A Party who does not initiate suit for the recovery of sums paid 
"under protest" within 6 months shall be deemed to have waived its right to protest such payment. 
44. Authority; Multiple Parties; Execution. 

(a) If either Party hereto is a corporation, trust, limited liability company, partnership, or similar entity, each individual 
executing this Lease on behalf of such entity represents and warrants that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease on its behalf. 
Each Party shall, within 30 days after request, deliver to the other Party satisfactory evidence of such authority. 

(b) If this Lease is executed by more than one person or entity as "Lessee", each such person or entity shall be jointly and 
severally liable hereunder. It is agreed that any one of the named Lessees shall be empowered to execute any amendment to this Lease, or other 
document ancillary thereto and bind all of the named Lessees, and Lessor may rely on the same as if all of the named Lessees had executed such 
document. , 

(c) This Lease may be executed by the Parties in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which 
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
45. Conflict. Any conflict between the printed provisions of this Lease and typewritten or handwritten provisions shall be controlled by the 
typewritten or handwritten provisions. 
46. Offer. Preparation of this Lease by either Party or their agent and submission of same to the other Party shall not be deemed an offer to 
lease to the other Party. This Lease is not intended to be binding until executed and delivered by all Parties hereto. 
47. Amendments. This Lease may be modified only in writing, signed by the Parties in interest at the time of the modification. As long as they 
do not materially change Lessee's obligations hereunder, Lessee agrees to make such reasonable non-monetary modifications to this Lease as may be 
reasonably required by a Lender in connection with the obtaining of normal financing or refinancing of the Premises. 
48. Waiver of Jury Trial. THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR 
PROCEEDING INVOLVING THE PROPERTY OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT. 
49. Arbitration of Disputes. An Ad e 

is 0 is not attached to this Lease. 
50. 
of the Premises, Lessor makes no warran y or repre 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

ct (ADA) is dependent upon Lessee's specific use 
amply with ADA or any similar legislation. In the 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

event that Lessee's use of the Premises requires modifications or additions to the Premises in order to be in ADA compliance, Lessee agrees to make 

any such necessary modifications and/or additions at Lessee's expense. 

IT RELATES. THE PARTIES ARE URGE TO: 

1. SEEK ADVICE OF COUNSEL AS TO T 

CIALLY REASONABLE AND EFFECTUATE THE 

CIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION OR BY ANY 

HIS LEASE OR THE TRANSACTION TO WHICH 

2. RETAIN APPROPRIATE CONSULTANTS TO REVIEW AND INVESTIGATE THE CONDITION OF THE PREMISES. SAID INVESTIGATION 

SHOULD INCLUDE BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO: THE POSSIBLE PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES, THE ZONING OF THE PREMISES, 

THE STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY, THE CONDITION OF THE ROOF AND OPERATING SYSTEMS, AND THE SUITABILITY OF THE PREMISES FOR 

LESSEE'S INTENDED USE. 

WARNING: IF THE PREMISES IS LOCATED IN A STATE OTHER THAN CALIFORNIA, CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LEASE MAY NEED TO 

BE REVISED TO COMPLY WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE PREMISES IS LOCATED. 

The parties hereto have executed this Lease at the place and on the dates specified above their respective signatures. 

Executed at: Executed at: 
------------------- -------------------

0 n: On: ---------------------
By LESSOR: By LESSEE: 

700 FIFTH AVENUE, LLC. _M_A_R_I_N_C_L_E_A_N_E_N_E_R_G_Y ____________ _ 

By: ______________________ By: ____________________ _ 

Name Printed: Ted B. Shuel Name Printed: ------------------
Ti tie: Manager Title:~~~~~~~~--------------

By: ___________ -+----\-+----+---+-----1 

Name Printed: 
--------+------J----1=~----t--

T it I e: ---------------1------1---J-.:,'c----+===-'\ 
Address: 

Telephone:( __ ) _________________ Telephone: ( __ ) ________________ _ 

Facsimile: ( __ ) Facsimile: ( __ ) ________________ _ 

Email: Email: --------------------
Em a i I: Email: --------------------
Feder a I ID No. Federal ID No. 

INITIALS 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

BROKER: BROKER: 

Att: tt: -F------+-----------------

T it I e: ---------------l--------l----+~------1'==--c=c-'\itle: ------+----------------

Address: 

Telephone:( __ ) __________________ Telephone:( __ ) _________________ _ 

Facsimile:( __ ) Facsimile:( __ ) __________________ _ 

Email: Email: ----------------------
Feder a I ID No. Federal ID No. --------------------
Broker/ Agent DRE License #: Broker/Agent DRE License #: ______________ _ 

NOTICE: These forms are often modified to meet changing requirements of law and industry needs. Always write or call to make sure you 

are utilizing the most current form: AIR Commercial Real Estate Association, 800 W 6th Street, Suite 800, Los Angeles, CA 90017. 

Telephone No. (213) 687-8777. Fax No.: (213) 687-8616. 

INITIALS 

© Copyright 2001 - By AIR Commercial Real Estate Association. All rights reserved. 

No part of these works may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing. 

©2001 -AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION 

INITIALS 

FORM STG-14-3/10E 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

ADDENDUM TO LEASE 

The following paragraphs shall constitute a part of the Standard Industrial/Commercial 
Single-Tenant Lease - Gross dated as of August_, 2014, being entered into concurrently between 700 
FIFTH A VENUE, LLC .. , a California limited liability company, as Lessor, and MARIN CLEAN 
ENERGY, a non-profit governmental agency, joint powers authority, as Lessee, covering certain 
premises located at 700 Fifth A venue, San Rafael, California. The provisions of this Addendum shall 
modify any inconsistent provisions in the Lease. 

50. Base Rent. The monthly Base Rent payable by Lessee to Lessor shall be as follows: 

Months 1 through 3 $0 
Months 4 through 12 $19,890 
Months 13 through 24 $26,790 
Months 25 through 36 $34,768 
Months 37 through 48 $35,812 
Months 49 through 60 $36,886 
Months 61 through 72 $38,361 
Months 73 through 84 $39,896 
Months 85 through 96 $41,492 
Months 97 through 108 $43,151 
Months 109 through 120 $44,877 

51. Commencement Date Adjustment. In the event Lessor is unable to substantially 
complete Lessor's Work by the scheduled Commencement Date of January 1, 2015, Lessor shall also 
have the right to delay the Commencement Date for a period no later than March 1, 2015. In the event 
the Commencement Date is delayed, the Expiration Date shall be adjusted accordingly. Promptly after 
the Original Term commences, Lessor and Lessee shall execute a further addendum to this Lease setting 
forth the actual Commencement Date and Expiration Date. 

52. Option to Extend. 

(a) Lessor hereby grants to Lessee one (1) option (the "Extension Option") to extend the 
Original Term of the Lease for an additional period of five (5) years each ( the "Option Tenn") on the 
same terms, covenants and conditions as provided for in the Lease during the Original Term, except for 
Base Rent which shall be the greater of (i) 104% of the Base Rent payable by Lessee during the last year 
of the then current Term, or (b) the "fair market rental rate" for the Premises at the commencement of the 
Option Tenn as defined and determined in accordance with the provisions of subparagraphs ( d) and ( e ), 
below. 

(b) The Extension Option must be exercised, if at all, by written notice ("Extension 
Notice") delivered by Lessee to Lessor no earlier than nine (9) months, and no later than six (6) months, 
prior to expiration of Original Term of the Lease. The Extension Option shall, at Lessor's sole option, not 
be deemed to be properly exercised if, at the time such Extension Option is exercised or on the scheduled 
commencement date for the Option Term, Lessee has (i) c01mnitted a Breach of the Lease, (ii) assigned 
all or any portion of the Lease or its interest therein, or (iii) sublet more than 4,200 square feet of the 
Premises. Provided that Lessee has properly and timely exercised the Extension Option, the Term of the 
Lease shall be extended by the Option Tenn and all terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease shall 
remain unmodified and in full force and effect, except that the Base Rent shall be as set forth herein. 

1 Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

(c) Lessee's Extension Option is personal to the original Lessee executing this Lease and 
may not be exercised or assigned, voluntarily or involuntarily, by or to any person or entity other than the 

original Lessee. 

(d) Within sixty (60) days after receipt of Lessee's Extension Notice, Lessor shall notify 
Lessee of its determination of the Base Rent for the Option Term ("Lessor's Notice"). If Lessor 
determines that the Base Rent for the Option Term shall be the 104% of the Base Rent payable by Lessee 
during the last year of the then current Term, such determination shall be conclusive on the parties and the 

market rental rate shall not apply. If, however, Lessor determines that the Base Rent for the applicable 
Option Term shall be the fair market rental rate, then the parties shall endeavor by good faith negotiations 
to agree upon the Base Rent for the Option Term within thirty (30) days after Lessor's Notice. In the 
event the parties cannot agree on the Base Rent in the thirty-day period, the Base Rent shall be 
determined as follows: 

(i) Within fifteen (15) days after expiration of the thirty-day negotiation 
period, each party, at its own cost and by giving notice to the other party, shall appoint a real 
estate appraiser, with a membership in the American Institute of Estate Appraisers or the Society 
of Real Estate Appraisers and at least five (5) years ful 1-time commercial appraisal experience in 
the San Francisco Bay Area, to appraise and determine the Base Rent. If in the time provided 
only one party sha 11 give notice of appointment of an appraiser, the single appraiser appointed 
shall determine the Base Rent. If two (2) appraisers are appointed by the parties, the two (2) 
appraisers shall independently, and without consultation prepare an appraisal of the Base Rent 
within 15 days. Each appraiser shall seal its respective appraisal after completion. After both 
appraisals are completed, the resulting estimates of the Base Rent shall be opened and compared. 
If the value of the appraisals differ by no more than ten percent (10%) of the value of the higher 
appraisal, then the Base Rent shall be the average of the two (2) appraisals. 

(ii) If the values of the appraisals differ by more than ten percent (10%) 
of the value of the higher appraisal, the two (2) appraisers shall designate a third appraiser 
meeting the qualifications set forth in subparagraph (i), above. If the two (2) appraisers have not 
agreed on a third appraiser after ten (10) days, either Lessee or Lessor, by giving ten (10) days 
notice to the other party, may apply to the then Presiding Judge of the Superior Court for the 
county in which the Premises is located for the selection of a third appraiser who meets the 
qualifications set forth in subparagraph (i), above. The third appraiser, however, selected, shall 
be a person who has not previously acted in any capacity for either party. The third appraiser 
shall make an appraisal of the Base Rent within fifteen (15) days after selection and without 
consultation with the first two (2) appraisers. The three (3) appraisals shall then be added 
together and their total divided by three (3 ), and the resulting quotient shall be the Base Rent. If, 
however, the low appraisal and/or the high appraisal are/is more than 15% lower and/or higher 
than the middle appraisal, the low appraisal and/or the high appraisal shall be disregarded. If one 
(1) appraisal is disregarded, the remaining two (2) appraisals shall be added together and their 
total divided by two (2), and the resulting quotient shall be the Base Rent. If both the low 
appraisal and the high appraisal are disregarded as provided in this subparagraph, the middle 
appraisal shall be the Base Rent. 

If the determination of the Base Rent is delayed beyond the commencement of the applicable Option 
Term, Lessee shall continue to pay the Base Rent due during the last month of Original Tenn . On the 
first day of the month following the determination of the Base Rent, there shall be an adjustment made to 
the Base Rent payment then due for the difference between the amount of Base Rent Lessee has paid to 
Lessor since the applicable Option Tenn commencement and the amount that Lessee would have paid if 

2 Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

the Base Rent as adjusted pursuant to this subparagraph had been in effect as of the applicable Option 
Term commencement. 

Each party shall pay the fees and expenses of their own appraiser, and 50% of the fees and expenses of 
the third appraiser. 

( e) The appraisers shall determine the fair market rental rate using the "market 
comparison approach" with the relevant market being that for Class "A" office buildings in the downtown 
San Rafael area as of the Option Term commencement, taking into consideration location, condition and 
improvements to the space, and assuming that the relevant comparison office building leases are so-called 
"full-service" leases, including janitorial services. Once the fair market rental rate is determined, there 
shall be deducted from the rate so determined the sum of $0.20 times 10,710 (which the parties agree is 
the square footage of the Premises) to allow for the fact that Lessee is providing some of its own services. 
For example, if the appraisal process determines that the monthly fair market rental rate for full-service, 

Class "A" office buildings in the downtown San Rafael Area is $3.00 per square foot (or $32,130 per 
month for the Premises), then the monthly Base Rent for the first year of the Option Term would be 
$29,988 ($32,130 less $2,142 ($0.20 times 10,710 square feet). 

(f) On the first anniversary of the Option Term, and annually thereafter, the Base Rent 
shall be increased by one hundred four percent (104%) of the previous year's Base Rent. 

53. Repairs and Maintenance. Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of the Lease are modified in the 
following respects only: Unless the need for maintenance or repair is caused by the negligence or willful 
act of Lessee, its agents or contractors, Lessor shall perform the following maintenance and repair 
obligations (in addition to maintaining the surface and strnctural elements of the roof, foundations and 
bearing walls): 

(i) Lessor shall maintain the Building's skylights and exterior windows in watertight 
condition (Lessee shall remain responsible for cleaning the exterior windows and skylights); 

(ii) Lessor shall maintain the exterior of the Building, including painting when necessary; 

(iii) Lessor shall be responsible for resurfacing the parking lot when necessary (Lessee 
shall remain responsible for keeping the parking lot in a clean condition and shall be responsible for 
restriping the parking lot as needed); and 

(iv) Lessor shall maintain in good condition and repair the electrical, gas and plumbing 
systems installed by Lessor in the Building (Lessee shall maintain all such systems installed by Lessee). 

Lessee at its sole cost and expense shall provide for janitorial services and supplies 
(including light bulbs) to the Premises and shall pay for all utilities supplied to the Premises, including 
water, electricity, gas, telephone, trash removal, and security maintenance and services, and will 
reimburse Lessor quarterly for maintenance service contracts obtained by Lessor on the HV AC systems in 
the Building. 

54. Increased Insurance Premium Expenses. As provided in Section 8.1 of the Lease, 
Lessee shall pay to Lessor any Insurance Cost Increase over the Base Premium. Insurance Premium 
Expenses shall include the premiums for Lessor's fire, casualty, liability and earthquake insurance on the 
Premises. The current annual premiums for the foregoing insurance is $17,385 and Lessor estimates that 
the premiums for the Base Year will be approximately $17,910. 

55. Increased Building Expenses. In addition to paying any Insurance Cost Increase 
(Section 8.1) and Tax Increase (Section 10.2), Lessee shall pay to Lessor all increased costs incurred by 

Lessor in connection with its maintenance and repair of the roof, fotmdations, bearing walls, skylights, 

3 Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

exterior window, parking lot and those service and maintenance items provided by Lessor under 
Paragraph 53, above, to the extent those costs exceed the sums expended for those items during the first 
year of the Original Term. Lessee shall pay any such increased costs within thirty (30) days after receipt 
by Lessee ofreasonably detailed statement prepared by Lessor showing the amount of the increase. 

56. Parking. Reference is made to the Agreement regarding parking dated as of January 
22, 2003, between Lessor and the owner of the real property located at 704 Mission Street in San Rafael, 
California. During the term of this Lease, Lessor shall be deemed to have assigned to Lessee all of its 
parking rights under the Agreement relating to parking and Lessee agrees to abide by all of the terms and 
conditions of said Agreement, including the obligation to permit the other party to the Agreement to use 
the parking lot on the Premises for parking by its customers. The termination of the Agreement shall not 
affect this Lease or Lessee's obligations hereunder. 

56. Assignment and Subletting. In connection with any assignment of this Lease or 
subletting of the Premises, Lessee shall abide by the requirements of Paragraph 12 of the Lease and 
Lessor agrees that it will not unreasonably withhold or delay its approval of any assignment or subletting. 
Any assignment or subletting shall be deemed approved if Lessor fails to respond to a written request 
from Lessee to approve an assignment or subletting provided such request is accompanied by financial 
and other information regarding the assignee or subtenant as Lessor may reasonably request. 

Any rent or other consideration realized by Lessee in excess of the Base Rent payable 
hereunder in connection with any sublease, license or similar arrangement collectively covering less than 
4,200 square feet of the Premises, after am01iization of Lessee's reasonable subletting and assignment 
costs, shall be divided and paid fifty percent (50%) to Lessor and fifty percent (50%) to Lessee. Any rent 
or other consideration realized by Lessee in excess of the Base Rent payable hereunder in connection with 
any assignment of this Lease or any sublease, license or similar arrangement covering 4,200 square feet or 
more of the Premises, after amortization of Lessee's reasonable costs of assignment, subletting, licensing 
or similar arrangement, shall be paid one-hundred percent (100%) to Lessor. 

57. Signage. Lessee shall have the right to place its name (signage) 011 the front door of 
the Building and on the exterior of the Building and at both exterior street-fronting corners of the 
Premises (Mission A venue and Fifth A venue). All signage is subject to Lessor's prior written approval 
and to the review and approval of all governmental requirements and restrictions of the City of San 
Rafael. All signage shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense. Upon lease termination Tenant shall 
remove its signage and restore the building and all exterior monuments to their condition prior to 
commencement of the Original Term. 

58. Disability Access Requirements. 

(a) Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938, Landlord has advised Tenant that 
neither the Premises nor the Building have been inspected by a Certified Access Specialist. 

(b) Except as otherwise provided in ( c ), below, Landlord shall be responsible for making 
and paying for all required disability access improvements on the exterior and in the common areas of the 
Building. 

( c) Tenant shall be responsible for making and paying for all required disability access 
improvements within the Premises and for all required disability access improvements on the exterior and 
in the co1mnon areas of the Building that are triggered by Tenant's Alterations. 

59. Brokers' Commission. Lessor agrees to pay to the Brokers the following fees upon 
occurrence of the following events: (i) The sum of $60,735 to Lessee's Broker and $30,367 to Lessor's 
Broker upon full execution of this Lease, and (ii) The sum of $60,735 to Lessee's Broker and $30,367 to 
Lessor's Broker upon Lessor's receipt of the first payment of Base Rent (scheduled for April 1, 2015). 

4 Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

EXHIBIT A 

DIAGRAM OF PREMISES 

1 Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

EXHIBITB 

WORK LETTER AGREEMENT 

THIS WORK LETTER AGREEMENT supplements that certain Standard Industrial/Commercial 
Single-Tenant Lease dated August_, 2014 ("Lease"), executed by 700 Fifth A venue, LLC, as Lessor, 
and Marin Clean Energy, a non-profit governmental agency, joint powers authority, as Lessee. All 
capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as those capitalized terms 
contained in the Lease. 

1. Lessor shall be responsible for constructing within the Building the tenant improvements 
("Tenant Improvements") described in the preliminary space plan attached hereto as Exhibit B-1 
("Preliminary Space Plan"). The Tenant Improvements for the Premises will be more particularly 
described in the plans and constmction drawings ("Construction Drawings") as approved below. Any 
additional work in the Building shall be at Lessee's sole cost and expense. 

2. Within thirty (30) days after execution of the Lease, Lessor shall provide Lessee with the 
Construction Drawings and Specifications showing the details of the Tenant Improvements. The 
Construction Drawings shall be prepared by Lessor's architect, WK design group, and shall be in 
conformity with the Preliminary Space Plan. The Construction Drawings shall include full energy 
calculations as required by the State of California and the city agencies. 

3. Within seven (7) days after receipt of the Construction Drawings, Lessee shall approve 
the drawings and/or request changes or modifications thereto. Any such request for changes or 
modifications shall be subject to Lessor's reasonable approval and, thereafter, the Construction Drawings 
shall be resubmitted for Lessee's approval in accordance with the preceding sentence. Lessee 
acknowledges that the Construction Drawings are subject to the approval of the appropriate govermnent 
authorities. It shall be Lessee's responsibility to ensure that the design and function of the Tenant 
Improvements are suitable for Lessee's business and needs. The Tenant Improvements shall be 
constructed in accordance with current building standards, laws, regulations, ordinances and codes. 
Except as provided in paragraph 9, below, Lessor shall not be required to install any Tenant 
Improvements which do not conform to the Construction Drawings. 

4. The total cost of the Tenant Improvements to be paid by Lessor shall not exceed 
____ TBD _____ Dollars ($ _____ ~ . The total "cost" includes the following: 

(a) All construction costs and expenses associated with the Tenant Improvements; 

(b) The reasonable costs of the Preliminary Space Plan (including one revision 
thereto) and final Construction Drawings and engineering costs associated with completion of the State of 
California energy utilization calculations under Title 24 legislation and any engineering fees associated 
with the project; and 

( c) The reasonable costs of obtaining building permits and other necessary 
authorizations from the city, county and the State of California. 

Any total costs associated with the Tenant Improvements in excess of$ ______ shall be paid by 
Lessee within thirty (30) days after billing by Lessor. 

Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

5. As provided in Paragraph 51 of the Lease, the Lease Commencement Date shall be on the 
date Lessor substantially completes the Tenant Improvements. 

6. Lessee may, with Lessor's written consent which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, enter the Premises prior to the Commencement Date solely for the purpose of installing its 
Personal Property as long as such entry will not interfere with the orderly construction and completion of 
the Tenant Improvements by Lessor's contractor. Lessee shall notify Lessor of its desired time( s) of entry 
and shall submit for Lessor's written approval the scope of the Tenant's Work to be performed and the 
name(s) of the contractor(s) who will perform such work. Lessee agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless Lessor from and against any and all claims, actions, losses, liabilities, damages, costs or 
expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and claims for worker's compensation) 
of any nature whatsoever, arising out of or in c01mection with the Tenant's Work (including, without 
limitation, claims for breach of warranty, bodily injury or property damage). 

7. The Premises shall be deemed "substantially completed" as of the date that all of the 
following conditions are satisfied ("Substantial Completion"): 

(a) The Tenant Improvements have been substantially completed in accordance with 
the approved Construction Drawings (except for minor punch list items); and 

(b) A certificate of occupancy and/or finalized building permit has been issued for 
the Premises. 

8. Pursuant to Section 2 of the Lease, Lessee shall immediately prior to occupancy inspect 
the Premises and compile and furnish Lessor with an initial punch list of any missing or deficient Tenant 
Improvements. Within the first thirty (30) days after occupancy of the Premises, Lessee shall make a final 
punch list and submit this list to Lessor. Lessor shall use its best efforts to complete the corrective work in 
a prompt, good and workman-like manner. Punch list corrections not corrected to the reasonable 
satisfaction of Lessee promptly following Lessor's receipt of the final punch list shall not be grounds for a 
delay or reduction in any rent payments due Lessor unless such corrections materially interfere with the 
use by Lessee of the Premises, in which case rent shall be abated as to the portion of the Premises 
rendered unusable on a day for day basis. 

9. In addition to the Tenant Improvements, Lessor shall provide the following Additional 
Tenant Improvements at Lessor's sole cost and expense: 

a. Installation of a new elevator on the outside of the Building from the parking lot to provide 
elevator access to the first and second floors; 

b. Replace the current fence in the parking lot; 

c. Mill the current asphalt in the parking lot, repair the surface as needed, apply a new topcoat, 
and restripe ; 

d. Replace the current landscaping per Lessor's design; and 

e. Install Fire Sprinklers if required the San Rafael Building Department. 

The design and materials used to construct the foregoing Additional Tenant Improvements shall be at 
Lessor's sole discretion. Any cost of the Additional Tenant Improvements (including the actual 

2 Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

construction costs, architectural and engineering fees, and permit fees) in excess of $ __ TBD __ ) 
shall be paid by Lessee within thirty (30) days after billing by Lessor. 

3 Initials 



Agenda Item 6-Att: AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross

EXHIBITB-1 

PRELIMINARY SPACE PLAN 

Initials 



Damon Connolly, Chair Dawn Weisz, Executive Officer

PRESENTED TO

[Customer Name]
For eliminating its energy-related greenhouse gas emissions 

and supporting local jobs and local renewable development by choosing 

Deep Green 100% Renewable Energy

Deep Green ChampionDeep Green ChampionDeep Green Champion

MCE ---



[Name], Mayor of [Community Name] [Name], [Community Name] Council Member                  

PRESENTED TO

[Customer Name]
For demonstrating environmental and community leadership by choosing

Marin Clean Energy’s Deep Green 100% Renewable Energy

[City seal or logo here]

    and MCE Board Member



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dawn Weisz 
Executive Officer 
 
Damon Connolly 
Chair 
City of San Rafael 
 
Kathrin Sears 
Vice Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Larry Bragman 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Garry Lion 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Tom Butt 
City of Richmond 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 

 
1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 
781 Lincoln Ave., #320  
San Rafael, CA 94901  

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  

Board of Directors Meeting 
Thursday, September 4, 2014 

7:00 P.M. 
 

San Rafael Corporate Center, Tamalpais Room 
750 Lindaro Street, San Rafael, CA 94901 

 
Agenda Page 1 of 2 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected in the Marin County Sheriff’s lobby, located at 3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903. The meeting facilities are in 
accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you 
may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE 
program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at 
djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

1. Board Announcements (Discussion) 
 

 
2. Public Open Time (Discussion) 

 
 

3. Report from Executive Officer (Discussion) 
 
 

4. Consent Calendar (Discussion/Action) 
C.1 7.3.14 Board Minutes 
C.2 Monthly Budget Report 
C.3 MCE Audited Financials 2014 & 2013 

 
  
5. Adjustment to Res-7 Rate Schedule (Discussion/Action) 

 
 

6. Land Option and Lease Agreements with Chevron Products 
Company  (Discussion/Action) 

 
 
7. Power Purchase Agreement with EDP (Discussion/Action) 

 
 

Agenda Item #8: 9.4.14 Draft Board Agenda

MCE 



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dawn Weisz 
Executive Officer 
 
Damon Connolly 
Chair 
City of San Rafael 
 
Kathrin Sears 
Vice Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Larry Bragman 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Garry Lion 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Tom Butt 
City of Richmond 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 

 
1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 
781 Lincoln Ave., #320  
San Rafael, CA 94901  

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  

Board of Directors Meeting 
Thursday, September 4, 2014 

7:00 P.M. 
 

San Rafael Corporate Center, Tamalpais Room 
750 Lindaro Street, San Rafael, CA 94901 

 
Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected in the Marin County Sheriff’s lobby, located at 3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903. The meeting facilities are in 
accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you 
may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE 
program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at 
djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

8. Letter of Credit from River City Bank for Power Supply 
Contractual Obligation of Four Months (Discussion/Action)  

 
 

9. Amendment 8 to MCE JPA Agreement Adding the County 
of Napa and City of San Pablo and Updating Voting Shares 
(Discussion/Action) 

 
 

10. MCE Prevailing Wage Policy (Discussion/Action) 
 

 
11. Communications Update (Discussion) 
 
 
12. MCE Legislative Policy (Discussion/Action) 
 
 
13. Regulatory and Legislative Update (Discussion) 
 
 
14. Board Member & Staff Matters (Discussion) 

 
 

15.  Adjourn 
 

Agenda Item #8: 9.4.14 Draft Board Agenda

MCE 



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dawn Weisz 
Executive Officer 
 
Damon Connolly 
Chair 
City of San Rafael 
 
Kathrin Sears 
Vice Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Larry Bragman 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Garry Lion 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Tom Butt 
City of Richmond 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 

 
1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 
781 Lincoln Ave., #320  
San Rafael, CA 94901  

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  
SPECIAL MEETING 

Thursday, September 18, 2014 
9:30AM – 4:00PM 

 
The Marin Art & Garden Center, Livermore Pavilion 

30 Sir Francis Drake Blvd. Ross, CA 94957 
 

Agenda Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected in the Marin County Sheriff’s lobby, located at 3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903. The meeting facilities are in 
accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you 
may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE 
program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at 
djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

1. Board Announcements (Discussion) 
 

 
2. Public Open Time (Discussion) 

 
 

3. Report from Executive Officer (Discussion) 
 
4. Historical Review and Annual Update (Discussion)  

(9:45-10:30) 
• Historical timeline, annual highlights, year ahead goals 

 Public Affairs 
 Procurement 
 Regulatory (very high level, note to include impacts of 

AB2145) 
 Energy Efficiency 

 
 

5. Energy Efficiency (Discussion) (10:30 – 11:10) 
• Current Best Practices 
• Community Input on MCE programs 
• MCE Post-2015 Energy Efficiency Proposal  

 
Break – 15 minutes 

 
6. MCE Local Renewable Projects: Presentations from Feed in 

Tariff Project Developers (Discussion)  (11:25 – 12:15) 
  

Lunch: 1 hour 
 

Agenda Item #9: 9.18.14 Draft Board Retreat Agenda

MCE 



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dawn Weisz 
Executive Officer 
 
Damon Connolly 
Chair 
City of San Rafael 
 
Kathrin Sears 
Vice Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Larry Bragman 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Garry Lion 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Tom Butt 
City of Richmond 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 

 
1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 
781 Lincoln Ave., #320  
San Rafael, CA 94901  

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  
SPECIAL MEETING 

Thursday, September 18, 2014 
9:30AM – 4:00PM 

 
The Marin Art & Garden Center, Livermore Pavilion 

30 Sir Francis Drake Blvd. Ross, CA 94957 
 

Agenda Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected in the Marin County Sheriff’s lobby, located at 3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903. The meeting facilities are in 
accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you 
may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE 
program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at 
djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

7. MCE Governance now and in the future (Discussion) (1:15 - 
1:45) 

 
 

8. MCE Local Renewable Projects Continued (Discussion)  (1:45 
– 2:30) 
• Sol Shares 
• MCE-Owned Projects/Deep Green 

 
 

9. Completion of any Unfinished Items (2:30 – 3:30) 
 
 

10. Board Member & Staff Matters (Discussion) 
 
 

11. Adjourn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item #9: 9.18.14 Draft Board Retreat Agenda

MCE 


	8.20.14 ExComm Agenda
	04_Approval of 7.16.14 ExCom Meeting Minutes
	05_Staff Report - Changes to Monthly Budget Report
	05_ Att. MCE Budget Reports 2014-05 (Unaudited) Second Draft
	06_700 5th Avenue MCE Update 7-28-14--Partially Executed LOI
	06_Att. AIR Lease Form Single Tenant Gross
	07_Draft DG Certificates
	08_9.4.14 Draft Board Agenda
	09_9.18.14 Draft Board Retreat Agenda



